





# Development of a solid phase extraction method for evaluating the production of classic and nonclassic eicosanoids in human and fish cells using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry

**By** Yang Yang

# Thesis for the degree of European Master in Quality in Analytical Laboratories

Bergen, Norway March, 2014



Department of Chemistry University of Bergen Norway



National Institute of Nutrition and Seafood Research, Bergen, Norway

# Development of a solid phase extraction method for evaluating the production of classic and nonclassic eicosanoids in human and fish cells using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry

**By** Yang Yang

# Thesis for the degree of European Master in Quality in Analytical Laboratories

Supervisors

# Pedro Araujo, PhD

Professor, National Institute of Nutrition and Seafood Research

# Bjørn Grung, PhD

Professor, Department of Chemistry, University of Bergen

Bergen, Norway

March, 2014

# Contents

Acl	knowledgmentsI					
Lis	t of Publications II					
Lis	t of AbbreviationsIII					
Ab	stractIV					
1. Introduction						
	1.1 Fatty acids1					
	1.1.1 Classification of the fatty acids1					
	1.1.2 Nomenclature of the unsaturated fatty acids1					
	1.1.3 Polyunsaturated fatty acids2					
	1.2 Eicosanoids					
	1.2.1 Production of eicosanoids					
	1.2.2 Chemical structure of eicosanoids					
	1.2.3 Importance of eicosanoids					
	1.3 Cell culture					
	1.4 Analytical method					
	1.4.1 Instrumental techniques					
	1.4.2 Extraction methods9					
	1.5 Experimental design					
	1.5.1 Full factorial design11					
	1.5.2 Doehlert Design					
	1.6 Objectives of the thesis					
2. N	Method development and method validation15					
	2.1 Experimental					
	2.1.1Reagents15					
	2.1.2 Preparation of standard solutions for determining the concentration of internal					
	standards15					

2.1.2 Extraction proceedure	16
2.1.4 HPLC-MS/MS analysis	
2.2 Mathematics and statistics	
2.2.1 Response Factor (RF)	
2.2.2 F-test	
2.2.3 Statistical Software	20
2.3 Results and discussion	20
2.3.1Determination of the concentrations of internal standards	20
2.3.2 Method validation	34
2.4 Conclusions	
3. Application of the method to Salmon liver cells	
3.1 Experimental	
3.1.1 Reagents	
3.1.2 Isolation of the cells	
3.1.3 Cell culture	
3.2 Statistical analysis	
3.2.1 Multifactor ANOVA	
3.2.2 Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) test	41
3.2.3 Statistical software	41
3.3 Results and discussion	41
3.4 Conclusions	48
4. Application of the method to salmon head kidney cells	49
4.1 Experimental	49
4.1.1 Reagents	49
4.1.2 Isolation of cells	49
4.1.3 Cell culture	49
4.2 Results and discussion	51
4.3 Conclusions	54
5. Application of the method to human umbilical vein endothelial cells	55
5.1 Experimental	55
1 ·	

5.1.1 Reagents	55
5.1.2 Cell culture	55
5.2 Results and discussion	55
5.3 Conclusions	60
6. Conclusions and further prospectives	61
References	63
Appendix I	

# Acknowledgments

This work was carried out at National Institute of Nutrition and Seafood Research (NIFES) in Bergen under the supervision of Prof. Pedro Araujo, Prof. Bjørn Grung and co-supervision of Lic. Eva Maria Lucena Toro. The work was supported by Erasmus Mundus Master in Quality in Analytical Laboratories (EMQAL).

I would like to first express my deep gratitude to Prof. Pedro Araujo and Prof. Bjørn Grung. Their great support, valuable guidance and constructive advices enabled me to complete my work successfully.

I would like to thank Lic. Eva Maria Lucena Toro who was doing all the work with me and collecting the human samples from hospital. The mutual help and discussion between us during the work, made things go smoother. Her motivation in science encouraged me a lot.

I am also very grateful to Dr Elisabeth Holen for supplying fish samples and giving me a lot of help in cell cultures. I learnt a completely new science area from her and I am really impressed by her great knowledge and passion for science.

Prof. Niels Aarsæther from the Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry at the University of Bergen is acknowledged for providing the human umbilical vein endothelial cells and facilities for culturing them.

I feel very much indebted to Prof. Isabel Cavaco from University of Algarve, Portugal. Without her great encouragement and recommendation, I would not have been enrolled in EMQAL, met different people, learnt about different cultures and different knowledge.

I would also like to thank my previous supervisor, Prof. Yizeng Liang from Central South University, China. Thank his introduction to Analytical Chemistry and Chemometrics, and great support in the application of EMQAL.

Last but not least, thanks all the personnel in NIFES for their technical assistance. Thanks to my colleagues from EMQAL: Habtewold, Ephrem, Romanus, Pedro, Kahasun and Carlos whose friendship enriched my time here.

I

# **List of Publications**

- [1] Araujo, P.; Lucena, E.; Yang, Y.; Ceemala, B.; Mengesha, Z.; Holen, E. The impact of exogenous ω-6 and ω-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on the induced production of pro- and anti-inflammatory prostaglandins and leukotrienes in Atlantic salmon head kidney cells using a full factorial design and LC-MS/MS. Journal of Chromatography B (Accepted).
- [2] Lucena, E.; Yang, Y.; Aarsæther N.; Holen E.; Araujo P. Development of a solid phase extraction method for the determination of prostacyclins in human and fish cells by LC-MS/MS. American Journal of Modern Chromatography (to be submitted)

# List of Abbreviations

Linoleic acid	LA
α-Linolenic acid	α-LNA
Arachidonic acid	AA
Eicosapentaenoic acid	EPA
Docosahexaenoic acid	DHA
Monounsaturated fatty acids	MUFAs
Polyunsaturated fatty acids	PUFAs
Enzyme immunoassay	EIA
Radioimmunoassay	RIA
Gas chromatography	GC
High performance liquid chromatography	HPLC
Extracted ion chromatograms	EICs
Diode array detector	DAD
Mass spectrometry	MS
Electrospray ionization	ESI
Atmospheric pressure chemical ionization	APCI
Flame ionization detector	FID
Human umbilical vein endothelial cells	HUVEC
Cyclooxygenases	COX
Lipooxygenases	LOX
Response factor	RF
Solid phase extraction	SPE
Liquid-liquid extraction	LLE
Limit of detection	LOD
Limit of quantification	LOQ
Analysis of variance	ANOVA
International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry	IUPAC
Fetal bovine serum	FBS
Phosphate-buffered saline buffer	PBS
Least Significant Difference	LSD

## Abstract

Eicosanoids are the major metabolites of fatty acids and they are correlated with many kinds of diseases such as Alzheimer's, cancer and cardiovascular diseases. Usually, most of the eicosanoids derived from  $\omega$ -6 fatty acids have pro-inflammatory properties while those from  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids are anti-inflammatory. The type and amount of the production of eicosanoids are affected by many factors including availability of fatty acids, activity of cyclo- and lipo- oxygenase and type of cells.

In this thesis, a solid-phase extraction method combined with HPLC-MS/MS is first developed to analyze simultaneously PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>,  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>, RvD<sub>1</sub> and RvD<sub>2</sub> in two types of cell culture medium, specifically EBM-2 medium and cL-15 medium. This method is systematically optimized and validated. The concentrations of internal standards are determined by a Doehlert design to keep the response factors constant in the analytical range. Method validation for the various eicosanoids in EBM-2 medium shows limits of quantification (LOQ) between 0.1-0.6 ng/ml, recovery between 57.1-127.2% and precision between 0.2- 20.7%. For cL-15 medium, LOQ is between 0.1-8 ng/ml, recovery 63.9-125.7% and precision 3.5-30.7% for the analyzed eicosanoids.

The validated method is then applied to investigate the effect of fatty acids on the production of eicosanoids in fish liver cells, fish head kidney cells and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC). The various types of cells are incubated in medium with different combination of fatty acids according to a 2<sup>4</sup>-factorial design and eicosanoids in the medium are analyzed after 24 hours. The results reveal that RvD<sub>1</sub> and RvD<sub>2</sub> cannot be detected in any type of cells. Addition of arachidonic acid (AA) increases the productions of all the other five eicosanoids except in fish head kidney cells where production of PGE<sub>3</sub> is reduced in a small degree. Individual linoleic acid (LA) reduces the productions of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1α</sub> and  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1α</sub> and increases the production of PGE<sub>3</sub> in both types of fish cells. Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) remarkably increases the production of LTB<sub>4</sub> and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) decreases the production of  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1α</sub> in three types of cells. The effects of interactions are complex and most of them are different in different types of cells.

# 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Fatty acids

#### 1.1.1 Classification of the fatty acids

Fatty acids are carboxylic acids with an aliphatic chain. In nature, most of the fatty acids have an even number of carbon atoms, from 4 to 28. According to the length of the aliphatic chain, fatty acids can be categorized to short-chain fatty acids, medium-chain fatty acids, long-chain fatty acids and very long-chain fatty acids. A short-chain fatty acid has an aliphatic chain with less than 6 carbon atoms, a medium-chain has 6-12 carbons, a long-chain has 13-21 carbons, and a very long-chain fatty acid has more than 22 carbons. Besides, the aliphatic chain can be saturated or unsaturated, which divides the fatty acids into two classes: saturated and unsaturated fatty acids. Unsaturated fatty acids can be further classed to monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) according to the number of the double bounds. All of the fatty acids, especially PUFAs, are very important for the development and function of human and animal organisms.

#### 1.1.2 Nomenclature of the unsaturated fatty acids

All of the fatty acids have their trivial names, systematic names defined by the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) and symbol names. Since symbols are short and helpful for understanding the chemical structure of the fatty acids, they are widely applied names in scientific and popular literature.

A symbol name contains the number of carbon atoms, the number of double bounds and the position of the first double bound. To understand the position of the double bounds, the numbering of the carbon atoms should be first introduced. The carbons labelled as  $\omega$  or n are those where the methyl group is numbered as carbon one. For example, linoleic acid (LA, 18:2n-6) has 18 carbons, two double bonds and the first double bound locates between the 6th and 7th carbons from the methyl end, so it is designated an n-6 (or  $\omega$ -6) fatty acid, and the symbol name is 18:2n-6. More examples can be seen in **Figure 1.1**.



Figure 1.1 Chemical structures of five important fatty acids

# 1.1.3 Polyunsaturated fatty acids

PUFAs are the fatty acids that have more than one double bond in the aliphatic chain. Recently, dietary PUFAs are drawing more and more attention worldwide since they are correlated with many kinds of diseases.  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6 fatty acids are two kinds of PUFAs. They cannot be synthesized by mammals, and so they must be obtained from the diet. Thus, the effect of different  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6 fatty acids are becoming much more important.

Linoleic (LA, 18:2n-6) and  $\alpha$ -linolenic ( $\alpha$ -LNA, 18:3n-3) acids are the representative of  $\omega$ -6 and  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids respectively. They are the starting point to manufacture other  $\omega$ -6 and  $\omega$ -3 series fatty acids. LA can be metabolized to arachidonic acid (AA, 20:4n-6) by desaturase and elongase, while  $\alpha$ -LNA is the precursor of the eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20:5n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, 22:6n-3). In addition to the conversion from EPA to DHA, DHA can be reconverted to EPA also. The metabolism of different fatty acids is shown in **Figure 1.2**. It is worth noting that LA and  $\alpha$ -LNA are involved in the similar metabolic system, so there is competition between them. Since  $\alpha$ -LNA has a higher affinity for the enzymes involved in metabolism compared with LA, the recommendation ratio between LA and  $\alpha$ -LNA is between 4/1 to 10/1<sup>1</sup>.

# **1.2 Eicosanoids**

#### 1.2.1 Production of eicosanoids

One of the most important functions of PUFAs is related to their enzymatic conversion into eicosanoids. PUFAs are first released from membrane phospholipids by the action of various phospholipases. Then, they are metabolized to different eicosanoids. AA is the substrate for two classes of enzymes, cyclooxygenases (COX) which produce 2-series prostaglandins, 2-series prostacyclins and 2-series thromboxanes, and lipooxygenases (LOX) which catalyze the biosynthesis of hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HETEs) and 4-series leokotrienes. EPA exhibits a similar metabolism to AA, but it is metabolized to 3-series prostaglandins, 3-series thromboxanes from COX and 5-series leokotrienes and hydroxyeicosapentaenoic acids from LOX. DHA are mainly converted to D-series resolvins by LOX. The metabolism of PUFAs is shown in **Figure 1.2**.



**Figure 1.2** The metabolism of different PUFAs into eicosanoids<sup>2</sup>

# 1.2.2 Chemical structure of eicosanoids

The chemical structures of the seven eicosanoids analyzed in this thesis and their corresponding internal standards are shown in **Figure 1.3**.





PGE<sub>3</sub> (C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>30</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, M=350,5)



LTB<sub>4</sub> (C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>32</sub>O<sub>4</sub>, M=336.5)



6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> (C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>34</sub>O<sub>6</sub>, M=370.5)



 $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> (C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>32</sub>O<sub>6</sub>, M=368.5)

і Он

но

 $6\text{-keto-PGF}_{1\alpha}\text{-}d_4\,(C_{20}H_{30}D_4O_{6,}\,M{=}374.5)$ 

Figure 1.3-1 Chemical structures of different eicosanoids and associated internal standards



Figure 1.3-2 Chemical structures of different eicosanoids and associated internal standards

#### 1.2.3 Importance of eicosanoids

Generally, AA-derived eicosanoids have pro-inflammatory effects and they are positively linked to arthritis<sup>3</sup> and periodontal disease<sup>4</sup> and also some disease which are not considered to be of inflammatory etiology such as Alzheimer's disease<sup>5</sup>, cardiovascular disease<sup>2</sup> and cancer<sup>6,7</sup>. In contrast, eicosanoids derived from  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids have anti-inflammatory effects and they can inhibit the release of AA-derived eicosanoids. Resolvins is a new family of lipid mediators which possess both potent anti-inflammatory and immune-regulatory properties<sup>8</sup>.

#### 1.3 Cell culture

Culturing cells is a process where cells are isolated from plants or animals and cultivated in a

medium with appropriate nutrients and conditions. This technique became common in the  $19^{\text{th}}$  century<sup>9</sup> and nowadays, has enabled us to investigate the effect of different drugs or compounds on cells, to synthesize valuable biological substances and to study the biochemistry of cells. Hence, they are becoming suitable substitute methods for animal experiments. Compared to other biological samples (i.e. plasma, urine, tissue), the physical-chemical conditions (pH, temperature, O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> tension) of the cell cultures are easily controlled which lead to the high consistency and reproducibility of the results. Thus, cell cultures are becoming the preferred techniques among researchers.

#### 1.4 Analytical method

#### 1.4.1 Instrumental techniques

Different techniques have been used for eicosanoids analysis. **Figure 1.4** and **Table 1.1** show a chronological overview of the application of different instrumental techniques for the analysis of eicosanoids in cell cultures.

Enzyme immunoassay (EIA) and radioimmunoassay (RIA) are two types of immunoassay methods. EIA carries out the quantitative analysis based on the color change caused by linking enzyme to antibody or antigen, while RIA based on the radioactivity resulting from the competition between radiolabeled and unlabeled antigens in an antigen-antibody reaction. Nowadays, EIA and RIA are easy to perform due to the availability of commercial kits. However, their main drawbacks are the involvement of dangerous radioactive substances in RIA, the overestimation of the analytical concentrations due to cross-reactivity and the detection of a single analyte per commercial kit.

Gas chromatography (GC) is a powerful separation technique. Various volatile compounds can be separated in a GC column, identified by different detectors such as flame ionization detector (FID) or mass spectrometry (MS) and quantified by using appropriate standard compounds. This technique is highly sensitive. However, its major disadvantage is that it is limited to volatile compounds which are generally synthesized by time-consuming derivatization process.

High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) largely extends the range of analytes. It is not only useful for volatile but also for non-volatile compounds. The traditional detectors for HPLC are UV-visible detector and diode array detector (DAD). The identification is made according the spectrum and quantification based on the relationship between the absorption of light by the molecules of interest (e.g. absorbance) and the properties of these molecules (e.g. concentration). The main disadvantage of HPLC coupled to UV or DAD detectors is that the exact identification of compounds from the same category or family exhibiting same spectrum becomes expensive due to the need of several standards to achieve a reliable and positive identification.

Year	RIA	EIA	GC	HPLC	HPLC-MS	Ref.
1980			1			10
1981						
1982				1		11
1983	1					12
1984				1		13
1985	1					14
1986	3		1	2		15-20
1987	3			5		21-26
1988	5			4		27-35
1989	3	1				36-39
1990	2	1				40-42
1991	1		1	3		43-46
1992	6	1	2	6		47-56
1993	2	1	2	7		57-67
1994	6	1	1	7		68-78
1995	2			2		79-82
1996	1	1	1	4		83-88
1997	4	4		5		89-98
1998	1	2		4	2	99-105
1999	2	1	1	4	_	106-111
2000	2	1	1	5		112-119
2001	_	1	_	1	2	120-123
2002	1	1	2	3	3	124-132
2003	1	3	-	1	1	133-138
2004		2		1	1	139-142
2005		4	2	3	3	143-154
2006			_	1	1	155,156
2007		1		4	1	157-162
2008		1	1	2	5	163-171
2009		-		- 1	1	172,173
2010		4		1	3	174-180
2010		2	1	1	6	181-190
2012		2	1	3	4	191-200
2012	1	4	1	1	7	201-212
2013	1	7		1	, 1	213

 Table 1.1 Overview of the application of different instrumental techniques for the analysis of eicosanoids in cell cultures



Figure 1.4 Overview of the application of different instrumental techniques for the analysis of eicosanoids in cell cultures

The introduction of mass spectrometers coupled to HPLC has emerged as a potent alternative to overcome the limitations imposed by the use of spectrophotometric detectors (e.g. UV or DAD). The key to combine a MS to HPLC is the ability to remove the solvent and transfer analytes into vacuum as ionic species. Since the first HPLC/MS interface was reported<sup>214</sup>, many investigators attempted to improve the interface and then HPLC-MS got more and more extensive application.

Electrospray ionization (ESI) and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) are the two most widely used ion source in HPLC-MS. In ESI, the eluent solution passes through the electrospray capillary where a high voltage is applied to the tip of the capillary and as a consequence, the sample emerging from the tip is dispersed into an aerosol of highly charged droplets. The charged droplets are diminished in size by solvent evaporation. Eventually charged samples ions, free from solvent, are released from the droplets, some of which pass through a sampling cone into vacuum region and from there into the mass analyzer. It is worth mentioning that, in this step, it is easy to produce multiply charged ions. Thus, sample solutions for ESI are usually buffered or have added acids to enhance and control of the formation ions. In APCI, analyte solutions are first desolvated in a heated quartz tube, and then ions are produced by interacting with a corona discharge creating ions. Usually, the ESI is well-suited to the analysis of the polar molecules while APCI is a better choice for non-polar compounds.

A common drawback of these ion sources is that both of them involve a soft ionization process

where few fragments can be produced. In this case, it is easy to determine the molecular weight, but it cannot provide enough information about the structure of the compound. To solve this problem, a tandem mass spectrometry can be carried out. In this technique, ions produced in the ion source can be separated on the basis of their m/z ratios and the selected ion can be further fragmented by adding extra collisional energy. The resulting fragmentation can be useful for the identification analysis. In this thesis, a ESI-HPLC-tandem mass spectrometry method is applied.

#### 1.4.2 Extraction methods

The main methods used for the extraction of eicosanoids from cell culture media and further analysis by HPLC-MS is liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and solid phase extraction (SPE). A chronological overview of the application of these two particular methods for the analysis of eicosanoids in cell cultures by HPLC-MS is shown in **Figure 1.5** and **Table 1.2**.

Year	LLE		C.	SPE		
	Number of Ref.	Ref.	Number of Ref.	Ref.		
1998	1	104	1	105		
1999						
2000						
2001	1	123	1	122		
2002	1	131	2	130,132		
2003			1	138		
2004			1	142		
2005	1	154	2	152,153		
2006			1	156		
2007			1	162		
2008	4	167-170	1	171		
2009	1	173				
2010	1	179	2	178,180		
2011	1	187	5	185,186,188-190		
2012	2	197,198	2	199,200		
2013	2	208,209	5	203,207,210-212		
2014	1	213				

Table 1.2 Application of different extraction methods prior to HPLC-MS for the analysis of eicosanoids

**Figure 1.5** shows that SPE is preferred over LLE regardless of the simplicity and short extraction time of the latter. The main drawback of LLE is its low recovery and poor detection limit. In the present thesis, LLE was used initially to determine 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> and  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> by HPLC-MS. The latter compound ( $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>) was not detected chromatographically as shown in **Figure 1.6**.



Figure 1.5 Application of different extraction methods in HPLC-MS analysis of eicosanoids.



Figure 1.6 EICs of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> (369 $\rightarrow$ 351+315+289+323+307+205+220+149),  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> (367 $\rightarrow$ 349+331+289+269+323+313+305+298+207+185+163), and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> (373 $\rightarrow$ 355+337+319+275+167) using liquid-liquid extraction combined with HPLC-MS/MS analysis

SPE can be seen as one type of liquid chromatography. Compounds are separated in SPE cartridges according to their chemical and physical properties by using different combination of solvents. A procedure of SPE usually contains conditioning of the cartridges, loading sample, washing and collecting the fractions of interest (**Figure 1.7**). Nowadays, it is commonly used for isolating compounds or concentrating and purifying compounds in analytical laboratories.

The majority of reported SPE methods are basically focused on limited number of eicosanoids. In this thesis, a new SPE method was developed to simultaneously extract LTB<sub>4</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>, PGE<sub>2</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>,  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>, RvD<sub>1</sub> and RvD<sub>2</sub> from human and fish cell culture medium and to determine quantitatively their concentrations in real samples by HPLC-MS/MS.



Figure 1.7 Device of SPE (a) and scheme of a SPE process (b)

### 1.5 Experimental design

#### 1.5.1 Full factorial design

A 2-level full factorial design is the most popular design for the estimation of the significance of effects using one or more experimental responses. In this design, the factors are set at two levels (designated as +1 and -1) and all the possible combination of the factors are performed. An example for a 2-level three factors (2<sup>3</sup>) design is shown in **Figure 1.8**, where positive (+1) means a high magnitude and negative (-1) represents a low magnitude of a particular factor. The number of experiments (N) of a 2-level full factorial design is calculated by **Eq. 1.1**.

$$N=2^{k}$$
 (1.1)

where k is the number of studied factors.

After performing the experiments described in **Figure 1.8**, the effect of each variable can be calculated as **Eq. 1.2**.

$$\mathbf{R} = \overline{R_{+1}} - \overline{R_{-1}} \tag{1.2}$$

Where  $\overline{R_{+1}}$  is the average response when the variable is kept at high level and  $\overline{R_{-1}}$  is the average response when the variable is kept at low level. A positive or negative relationship between a response and a variable is denoted by the final symbol of **R** (+ or - correlation).



**Figure 1.8** 2<sup>3</sup>- full factorial design

Once the magnitude of all the effects are obtained, a model describing the behaviour of R as a function of the variables can be built as shown in **Eq. 1.3**.

$$\mathbf{R} = b_0 + b_1[x_1] + b_2[x_2] + b_{12}[x_1] \times [x_2]$$
(1.3)

The term  $b_0$  is the intercept,  $b_1$  and  $b_2$  are the coefficients for variable  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  respectively,  $b_{12}$  the coefficient for the interaction between  $x_1$  and  $x_2$ .

Although **Eq.1.3** can estimate the influence of each variable and the interaction between different variables, its main drawback is that curvature effects cannot be estimated.

#### 1.5.2 Doehlert design

A full factorial design is a powerful tool for screening significant effects, but it cannot be used to determine an optimal value or region. To determine an optimum, it is necessary to implement more complex designs where the appropriateness of linear, interaction and quadratic terms from a mathematical model is evaluated by mathematical and statistical tools.

A Doehlert design is a response surface design that allows to determine an optimum region by performing a minimum number of experiments. The number of experiments (N) when 2 factors (k=2)

are evaluated can be calculated as Eq. 1.4 and their spatial distribution is shown in Figure 1.9.



Figure 1.9 Distribution of experimental points for a 2-level Doehlert design

**Figure 1.9** shows six experimental points are allocated in a regular hexagon with one point in the center. These points are also equally distributed in a circle of radius one. This uniformity makes the design generate information equally in all directions. Besides, a Doehlert design can be easily extended to study other experimental arrangements by using previous experiments<sup>215</sup>. For example, an initial experimental region (denoted in full line) can be extended to explore neighbouring domains as shown in **Figure 1.10**.



Figure 1.10 Extension of a Doehlert experimental matrix from the initial 2-level matrix

The final model of a Doehlert design for 2 variables is given by **Eq. 1.5**, which describes the main effects, the interaction and the second order curvature effects of the variables.

$$\mathbf{R} = b_0 + b_1[x_1] + b_2[x_2] + b_{12}[x_1] \times [x_2] + b_{11}[x_1]^2 + b_{22}[x_2]^2$$
(1.5)

Where  $b_0$  is the intercept,  $b_1$  and  $b_2$  are the coefficients for variable  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  respectively,  $b_{12}$  the coefficient for the interaction of the two variables and  $b_{11}$  and  $b_{22}$  are the second order curvature coefficients.

#### 1.6 Objectives of the thesis

- To develop a new SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method to analyze prostaglandins, leukotrienes, prostacyclyns and resolvins in cultured fish and human cells in EBM-2 medium and cL-15 medium.
- 2) To determine the optimal internal standard concentrations by means of a two-factor Doehlert uniform shell design in two different cell culture medium (EBM-2 and cL-15).
- 3) To validate the new SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method.
- To apply the method to salmon head kidney, salmon liver and HUVEC exposed to different combinations of ω-6 and ω-3 fatty acids.

# 2. Method development and method validation

### 2.1 Experimental

#### 2.1.1Reagents

Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE<sub>2</sub>, 99%), deuterated prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>, 99%), prostaglandin E<sub>3</sub> (PGE<sub>3</sub>, 98%), leukotriene B<sub>4</sub> (LTB<sub>4</sub>, 97%), deuterated leukotriene B<sub>4</sub> (LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>, 99%), 6-keto prostaglandin F<sub>1α</sub> (6-keto-PGF<sub>1α</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>, 98%), deuterated 6-keto prostaglandin F<sub>1α</sub> (6-keto-PGF<sub>1α</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>, 99%),  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-Prostaglandin F<sub>1α</sub> ( $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1α</sub>, 98%), resolvin D<sub>1</sub> (RvD<sub>1</sub>, 95%), resolvin D<sub>2</sub> (RvD<sub>2</sub>, 95%) and deuterated resolvin D<sub>2</sub> (RvD<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>5</sub>, 95%) were purchased from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Acetonitrile (99.8 %) and formic acid (98 %) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). 2-propanol (HPLC grade, 99.9 %) from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). A Millipore Milli-Q system was used to produce ultra-pure water 18 MΩ (Millipore, Milford, USA).

Complete cL-15 medium was prepared by mixing Leibowitch cL-15 medium with 1% glutamax, 1% antibiotika and 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). Complete EBM-2 medium contained EBM<sup>TM</sup>-2 basal medium supplemented with 0.1 % Heparin, 0.1 % R<sup>3</sup>-IGF-1, 0.1 % ascorbic acid, 0.04 % hydrocortisone, 0.4 % h-FGF-B, 0.1 % h-EGF, 0.1 % GA-1000 and 2% FBS.

#### 2.1.2 Preparation of standard solutions for determining the concentration of internal standards

The initial concentrations of PGE<sub>2</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>,  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>, RvD<sub>1</sub>, RvD<sub>2</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-d<sub>4</sub> and RvD<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>5</sub> were 100 µg/ml, the concentration of PGE<sub>3</sub> was 1000 µg/ml and PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> was 500 µg/ml. All of them were prepared by dissolving the pure standards in ethanol.

From the initial solutions : *i*) stock solution 'A' containing 2000 ng/ml PGE<sub>2</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>; *ii*) stock solution 'B' containing 2000 ng/ml PGE<sub>3</sub>,  $\triangle$  17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>, RvD<sub>1</sub>, RvD<sub>2</sub> and *iii*) stock solution 'C' containing 1000 ng/ml PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>, RvD<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>5</sub> were prepared in two different mediums (complete cL-15 and complete EBM-2) respectively. And then, these stock solutions were diluted to a series of five equally spaced solutions in the range of 0.5-200 ng/ml containing three different levels of internal standards, according to a Doehlert design (**Figure 2.1**). Every experimental point in the Doehlert design was prepared in triplicate.



Figure 2.1 Doehlert design used for the determination the optimal concentration of internal standards in the analytical range 0.5-200 ng/ml.

#### 2.1.3 Extraction procedure

The extraction method is a modification of a previously published protocol<sup>162</sup>. First, an aliquot of 100  $\mu$ L of internal standard (for cL-15 medium: PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> 2000 ng/mL, LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> 250 ng/mL, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> 500 ng/mL, RvD<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>5</sub> 450 ng/ml; for EBM-2 medium: PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> 2000 ng/mL, LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> 1000 ng/mL, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> 300 ng/mL, RvD<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>5</sub> 300ng/ml) was added to 1 mL of sample. Then, 175  $\mu$ L of ethanol and 20  $\mu$ L of acetic acid were added. The mixture was vortex-mixed and applied to SPE columns (Agilent, ASPEC Bond Elute C18, 500 mg, 3 ml, USA) which had been preconditioned with 2 ml of methanol and 2 ml of water. The cartridge was washed with 4 ml of distilled water and 4 ml of hexane to remove peptides and salts as well as polar and nonpolar interfering substance. The analytes were eluted with 1 ml of hexane/ethyl acetate (1:2 v/v) collected into glass tubes and the solvent was evaporated under a stream of nitrogen gas. The dried sample was redissolved in 70  $\mu$ L of acetonitrile, vortex-mixed 30 s, centrifuged at 3000 rpm (1620 g) for 3 min and transferred to an auto sampler vial for HPLC-MS/MS analysis.

#### 2.1.4 HPLC-MS/MS analysis

The HPLC-MS used was an Agilent 1100 series LC/MSD trap, SL model equipped with an electrospray interface (ESI), a quaternary pump, degasser, autosampler, thermostatted column compartment and a variable-wavelength UV detector. A column C18 RP 250×4.6 mm, 5µm (Alltech, USA) was used and kept at 40 °C in the column compartment. Nitrogen was used as nebulizing and drying gas at 350 °C. The ESI source was operated in negative ion mode and the ion optics responsible for getting the ions in the ion-trap such as capillary exit, skimmer, lens and octapoles voltages were controlled by using the Smart View option with a resolution of 13000 *m/z/s* (FWHM/*m/z* = 0.6-0.7). Complete system control, data acquisition and processing were done using the ChemStation for LC/MSD trap software 5.3 from Agilent.

For the analysis of prostaglandins, leukotrienes and prostacylins, the solvent system was acetonitrile with 0.1% formic acid (v/v) and operated in isocratic mode at 0.75 ml/min. The injection volume was 20  $\mu$ l and the analysis time 15 min.

Name of	Parent	m/z common to both modio	m/z unique	m/z unimus to EDM 2
eicosanoids	ion	m/z common to both media	to cL-15	m/z unique to EBM-2
PGE <sub>3</sub>	349	313, 269		331
$PGE_2$	351	333, 315, 271		
$PGE_2$ -d <sub>4</sub>	355	337, 319, 275		
$LTB_4$	335	317, 275, 151, 129, 109		289, 255, 195, 273, 177, 203
LTB <sub>4</sub> -d <sub>4</sub>	339	321, 277, 319, 293, 275, 197, 179, 153, 125		
6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>	369	351, 315, 289, 307, 205, 220, 149	323	333
$\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>	367	349, 331, 289, 269, 313, 305, 207, 185, 163	323, 298,	
6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub> -d <sub>4</sub>	373	355, 337, 319, 275, 167		
$RvD_1$	375	141		
$RvD_2$	375	141		
$RvD_2$ - $d_5$	380	362, 344, 326, 282, 146, 141		

Table 2.1 Fragmentation patters for various eicosanoids in cL15 and EBM-2 medium

For the analysis of resolvins, the mobile phase consisted of solvent A: water: acetonitrile: formic-acid (63:37:0.02 v/v/v) and solvent B: 2-propanol: acetonitrile (50:50 v/v). The mobile phase was delivered in gradient mode as follows: 100% of solvent A was held for 5 min and changed into 60% in the following 6 min and into 10% in the subsequent 2 min. Solvent A was kept in 10% for 2

min and then increased to 100% in 15 min. The total analysis time was 30 min, the flow rate 0.5 mL/min and the injection volume 25  $\mu$ L.

Different fragmentation patterns were chosen for cL-15 and EBM-2 medium and they are shown in **Table 2.1**.

### 2.2 Mathematics and statistics

#### 2.2.1 Response Factor (RF)

In chromatography analysis, a peak area is usually proportional to the concentration of its corresponding compound. However, the ratio between peak area and concentration for different compounds at the same level of concentration could vary due to different chemical behavior under the same instrumental conditions. Besides, the ratio for the same compound may also have slight variation because of the changing of instrumental conditions. Thus, in order to make a quantitation analysis, an internal standard is always introduced and the response factor (RF) for every analyte and internal standard is determined as **Eq. 2.1**.

$$RF = \frac{[A]}{[IS]} \cdot \frac{S_{IS}}{S_A}$$
(2.1)

Where [A] and [IS] represent the concentration of analyte and internal standard respectively, while  $S_{IS}$  and  $S_A$  are the chromatographic peak area of the internal standard and analyte.

### 2.2.2 F-test

F-test is a statistical parametric test commonly used to compare the lack-of-fit to pure error variances of a predetermined mathematical model. This statistical test was applied to check the regression models generated from the Doehlert design and to determine the optimal concentration of internal standards. The process of an F-test can be seen in **Table 2.2**.

Firstly, experimental RF ( $RF_{exp}$ ) was calculated according to **Eq. 2.1** and the averages of each triplicate were obtained. Then, a regression model like **Eq. 2.2** can be built and the calculated RF ( $RF_{cal}$ ) were obtained from this model.

$$RF = b_0 + b_1[A] + b_2[IS] + b_{12}[A] \times [IS] + b_{11}[A]^2 + b_{22}[IS]^2$$
(2.2)

After that, the sum of residual error ( $V_{RE}$ ), pure error ( $V_{PE}$ ) and lack-of-fit ( $V_{LOF}$ ) were calculated according to **Eq. 2.3—Eq. 2.5.** And the F-value can be calculated by the ratio between  $V_{LOF}$  and  $V_{PE}$ .

$$V_{RE} = \frac{\Sigma (RF_{exp} - RF_{cal})^2}{N - P}$$
(2.3)

$$V_{PE} = \frac{\sum (RF_{exp} - \overline{RF})^2}{N - K}$$
(2.4)

$$V_{LOF} = \frac{\sum (RF_{cal} - \overline{RF})^2}{K - P}$$
(2.5)

$$F_{cal} = \frac{V_{LOF}}{V_{PE}} \tag{2.6}$$

N, P, K are the number of total experiments, number of regression coefficients and number of experimental points respectively.

If  $F_{cal}$  is lower than the theoretical F-value (calculated by using Excel 2010), it means the model is fitted. In some instances, it is possible to remove the non-significant regression coefficients from **Eq. 2.2** to increase the degree of freedom and obtain a simplest model (aka reduced models). In this thesis, all the theoretical F-values were calculated at the 95 % confidence level of F-distribution.

 Table 2.2 Schematic explanation of the F-test applied to determine the validity of the various regression

 models of the response factor (RF). The best models are subsequently used to determine optimal

	[A]	[IS]	RF <sub>exp</sub>	RF <sub>cal</sub>	$\overline{RF}$	Residual error ( $V_{RE}$ )	Pure error $(V_{PE})$	Lack of fit ( $V_{LOF}$ )
	[A] <sub>11</sub>	[ <b>IS</b> ] <sub>11</sub>	RF <sub>exp11</sub>	RF <sub>cal11</sub>	$\overline{RF_1}$	$(RF_{exp11} - RF_{cal11})^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp11}},\overline{RF_{1}})^{2}$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{call}} - \overline{\mathrm{RF}_{1}})^{2}$
	[A] <sub>12</sub>	[ <b>IS</b> ] <sub>12</sub>	RF <sub>exp12</sub>	$RF_{cal12}$	$\overline{RF_1}$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp12}}\text{-}\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{cal12}})^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp12}}-\overline{RF_1})^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{call2}}-\overline{RF_1})^2$
	[A] <sub>13</sub>	[ <b>IS</b> ] <sub>13</sub>	$RF_{exp13}$	$RF_{cal13}$	$\overline{RF_1}$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp13}}\text{-}\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{cal13}})^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp13}}-\overline{RF_{1}})^{2}$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{call3}}-\overline{RF_1})^2$
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
	•	•			•			
	[A] <sub>71</sub>	[ <b>IS</b> ] <sub>71</sub>	RF <sub>exp71</sub>	RF <sub>cal71</sub>	$\overline{RF_7}$	$(\mathbf{RF}_{exp71} - \mathbf{RF}_{cal71})^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp71}}-\overline{RF_7})^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{cal71}}-\overline{RF_7})^2$
	[A] <sub>72</sub>	[ <b>IS</b> ] <sub>72</sub>	RF <sub>exp72</sub>	RF <sub>cal72</sub>	$\overline{RF_7}$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp72}}\text{-}\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{cal72}})^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp72}}-\overline{RF_7})^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{cal72}}-\overline{RF_7})^2$
	[A] <sub>73</sub>	[ <b>IS</b> ] <sub>73</sub>	RF <sub>exp73</sub>	RF <sub>cal73</sub>	$\overline{RF_7}$	$\left(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp73}}\text{-}\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{cal73}}\right)^2$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{exp73}}-\overline{RF_{7}})^{2}$	$(\mathrm{RF}_{\mathrm{cal73}}-\overline{RF_7})^2$
DF.			N	Р	K	N-P	N-K	K-P

concentrations of internal standards

### 2.2.3 Statistical Software

All of the basic calculation and F-test were carried out in Excel (Microsoft Office Excel 2010).

### 2.3 Results and discussion

# 2.3.1Determination of the concentrations of internal standards

The seven standards in Doehlert design, prepared in triplicates, were injected randomly into the chromatography system. Extracted ion chromatograms (EICs) were used for the quantitative analysis.

2.3.1.1 Optimal concentrations of internal standards in EBM-2 medium

The EICs and corresponding mass spectra of different analytes and internal standards in EBM-2 medium are shown in **Figure 2.2-2.5**.



Figure 2.2 EICs (a-b) and mass spectra(c-d) of leukotrienes in EBM-2 medium



Figure 2.3 EICs (a-c) and mass spectra (d-f) of prostaglandins in EBM-2 medium



Figure 2.4 EICs (a-c) and mass spectra (d-f) of prostacylins in EBM-2 medium



Figure 2.5 EICs (a-b) and mass spectra (c-e) of resolvins in EBM-2 medium

The regression models for different RFs as a function of the concentration of analytes and internal standards were built in Excel 2010 and F-test was used to check the fitness of the models. After reduction, the final models are listed in Eq. 2.7—Eq. 2.13 and the corresponding response surface are shown in Figure 2.6-2.9. Table 2.3 summarizes the results of F-test of the final models.

**Eq. 2.2** is valid for describing RF as a function of the concentration of  $PGE_2$  and  $PGE_2$ -d<sub>4</sub>, and a six-parameter model is built (**Eq. 2.7**). It is clear from **Figure 2.6a** that between 100-140 ng/ml of  $PGE_2$ -d<sub>4</sub>, the RF remains constant in the analytical range 50-200 ng/ml of  $PGE_2$ . However, a larger variation occurs below the above mentioned analytical concentration range.

$$RF = -3.76 \times 10^{-1} + 1.21 \times 10^{-2} [PGE_2] + 8.21 \times 10^{-3} [PGE_2 - d_4]$$

$$+1.72 \times 10^{-5} [PGE_2] \times [PGE_2 - d_4] - 6.19 \times 10^{-5} [PGE_2]^2 - 2.98 \times 10^{-5} [PGE_2 - d_4]^2$$
(2.7)

The calculated F-values for the various constructed RF regression models as a function of PGE<sub>3</sub> and PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> are higher than the theoretical F-values (95% confidence), thus, the modeling of PGE<sub>3</sub> was carried out by using the inverse of RF (1/RF). The fitted model (**Eq. 2.8**) is shown in **Figure 2.6b.** The RF remains constant in the whole studied PGE<sub>3</sub> range when the concentration of PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> is in the region of 0.5-50 ng/ml and 180-200 ng/ml. The relative standard deviation of RF in region of 0.5-50 ng/ml (35%) is higher than that in 180-200 ng/ml (11%).

$$\frac{1}{\text{RF}} = 4.14 - 1.12 \times 10^{-2} [PGE_3] - 3.64 \times 10^{-2} [PGE_2 - d_4] + 5.83 \times 10^{-5} [PGE_3] \times [PGE_2 - d_4] + 8.96 \times 10^{-5} [PGE_2 - d_4]^2$$
(2.8)

The concentration of 182 ng/ml of  $PGE_2$ -d<sub>4</sub> is selected as the optimal concentration to analyze quantitatively  $PGE_2$  and  $PGE_3$  in EBM-2 medium, based on the experimental evidence summarized in **Figure 2.6**.



Figure 2.6 Behavior of RFs as a function of (a)  $PGE_2$  and  $PGE_2$ -d<sub>4</sub>; (b)  $PGE_3$  and  $PGE_2$ -d<sub>4</sub> in EBM-2 medium, values in the figures represent the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of RFs.

A four-parameter polynomial function was built between RF and concentrations of LTB<sub>4</sub> and LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> (**Eq. 2.9**) and it exhibited a non-significant lack-of fit to pure error variance ratio of 2.343 (**Table 2.3**). The graph (**Figure 2.7**) displays three major regions, in which the major variation of RF is along LTB<sub>4</sub>–d<sub>4</sub> axis. RF keeps constant when LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> is between 75-125 ng/ml. Thus, 91 ng/ml is chosen as the optimal concentration of LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> for the analysis of LTB<sub>4</sub> in EBM-2 medium.

 $RF = -4.02 \times 10^{-1} + 8.27 \times 10^{-3} [LTB_4] + 1.90 \times 10^{-2} [LTB_4 - d_4]$ 

$$-9.70 \times 10^{-5} [LTB_4] \times [LTB_4 - d_4]$$
(2.9)



**Figure 2.7** Behavior of RF as a function of  $LTB_4$  and  $LTB_4$ -d<sub>4</sub> in EBM-2 medium, values in the figures represent the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of RFs

The modeling of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> was also carried out by using 1/RF. The model (**Eq. 2.10**) was only a function of the concentration of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and independent of the concentration of internal standard (**Eq. 2.10**). There are three different RF values in three different 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> concentration regions, namely 0.5-45 ng/ml (0.65±0.01), 45-148 ng/ml (0.69±0.02) and 148-200 ng/ml (0.74± 0.01) regardless of the concentration of the internal standard.

$$\frac{1}{RF} = 1.56 - 1.19 \times 10^{-3} [6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha}]$$
(2.10)

For  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>, RF was a linear function of the concentration of  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> (**Eq. 2.11**). There are two main concentration regions (**Figure 2.8**) where RF remains constant between 0.5-50 ng/ml (green region in **Figure 2.8b**) and 100-150 ng/ml (purple region in **Figure 2.8b**) of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> in the analytical range of 0.5-200 ng/ml of  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>. In general, it is advisable to use low concentrations of internal standard due to the high cost of the eicosanoid standards used in the present investigation (for example, 1 mg of  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> costs 1200 Euros). Based on this particular consideration, a concentration of 27 ng/ml of internal standard was selected as the optimal level for the determination of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> and  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> in EBM-2 medium.


 $\mathrm{RF} = 1.33 - 1.36 \times 10^{-3} [\Delta 17 - 6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha}] + 4.09 \times 10^{-3} [6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha} - d_4] \qquad (2.11)$ 

**Figure 2.8** Behavior of RF as a function of (**a**) 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-d<sub>4</sub>; (**b**)  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-d<sub>4</sub> in EBM-2 medium, values in the figures represent the mean ± standard deviation of RFs

For  $RvD_1$ , the RF was only affected by the concentration of  $RvD_2$ -d<sub>5</sub> (Eq. 2.12) and was independent of the concentration of  $RvD_1$  in the range 0.5-200 ng/ml as demonstrated in Figure 2.9a and Eq. 2.12.

$$RF = 6.59 \times 10^{-1} - 8.45 \times 10^{-4} [RvD_2 - d_5]$$
(2.12)

For  $RvD_2$ , a three-parameter function was built (**Eq. 2.13**). The graph displayed in **Figure 2.9b** shows that RF is constant between 50-200 ng/ml of  $RvD_2$  when  $RvD_2-d_5$  is varied between 0.5-50 ng/ml. This particular region is regarded as optimal for the analysis of real samples. Based on the previous results (**Figure 2.9 and Eq. 2.12 -2.13**), 27 ng/ml of  $RvD_2-d_5$  is considered as the optimal level for the determination of  $RvD_1$  and  $RvD_2$  in EBM-2 medium.



$$RF = 5.01 \times 10^{-1} + 1.70 \times 10^{-3} [RvD_2] + 1.09 \times 10^{-3} [RvD_2 - d_5]$$
(2.13)

**Figure 2.9** Behavior of RF as a function of (a) RvD<sub>1</sub> and RvD<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>5</sub>; (b) RvD<sub>2</sub> and RvD<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>5</sub> in EBM-2 medium, values in the figures represent the mean ±standard deviation of RFs

	PGE <sub>3</sub>	PGE <sub>2</sub>	$LTB_4$	6-keto-PGF $_{1\alpha}$	$\Delta$ -17-6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>	$RvD_1$	$RvD_2$
Residual variance	1.566 (14)	0.233(13)	28.190(17)	0.321(16)	2.880(15)	0.110(11)	0.316(10)
Pure error variance	0.986(12)	0.213(12)	18.767(14)	0.204(12)	2.097(12)	0.051(7)	0.192(7)
Lack-of-fit	0.580(2)	0.020(1)	0 122(2)	0.117(4)	0.784(3)	0.050(4)	0 125(3)
variance	0.380(2)	0.020(1)	9.423(3)	0.117(4)	0.764(3)	0.039(4)	0.123(3)
F <sub>estimated</sub>	3.528	1.109	2.343	1.720	1.495	2.017	1.518
<b>F</b> <sub>theoretical</sub>	3.885	4.747	3.344	3.259	3.490	4.120	4.347

 Table 2.3 Statistical validation results of the RF models for selecting optimal levels of internal standards associated to the analysis of different eicosanoids generated by human cells in EBM-2 medium

2.3.1.2 Optimal concentrations of internal standards in cL-15 medium

The procedure to select the optimal levels of internal standards in cL-15 medium was similar to the procedure described in the previous section. The EICs and corresponding mass spectra of different eicosanoids are shown in **Figure 2.10-2.13**. Some of the characteristic peaks for LTB<sub>4</sub> (specifically m/z 192, 255, 289 in **Figure 2.10c**) were observed in cL-15 blank medium (**Figure 2.14**) and consequently they were excluded for quantification purposes.



Figure 2.10 EICs (a-b) and mass spectra (c-d) of leukotrienes in cL-15 medium



Figure 2.11 EICs (a-c) and mass spectra (d-f) of prostaglandins in cL-15 medium



Figure 2.12 EICs (a-c) and mass spectra (d-f) of prostacylins in cL-15 medium



Figure 2.13 EICs (a-b) and mass spectra (c-e) of resolvins in cL-15 medium.



Figure 2.14 EICs of LTB<sub>4</sub> in blank medium when the fragmentation is: (a)  $335 \rightarrow 317 + 275 + 289 + 273 + 255 + 192 + 203 + 177 + 151 + 129 + 109$ ; (b)  $335 \rightarrow 317 + 275 + 151 + 129 + 109$  in cL-15 medium

The validated models describing the behavior of RF as a function of different internal standards and analytes are described in **Eqs 2.14** - **2.20**.

The optimal concentration of PGE<sub>2</sub>- d<sub>4</sub> was selected by simultaneously considering the behavior of RF for PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGE<sub>3</sub> (**Figure 2.15**). The concentration plot of PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> versus PGE<sub>2</sub> shows three well differentiated regions (indicated in blue, brown and red in **Figure 2.15a**) along the PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> axis. In these particular regions, RF remains constant over the entire PGE<sub>2</sub> range. It has been mentioned that low concentration levels are preferred due to the high cost of the pure eicosanoid standards. However, based on **Figure 2.15a**, it is advisable to use high concentrations of PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> (between 175-200 ng/ml) due to the high coefficient of variation (CV=  $100 \times 0.13/0.15=87\%$ ) observed in the concentration range of 0.5-130 ng/ml of PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub>. Similar observations to those described above were derived from **Figure 2.15b** for PGE<sub>3</sub>. The high coefficient of variation (approx. 56%) in the concentration range 0.5-130 ng/ml of PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> precluded the use of this particular range. Consequently, 182 ng/ml of PGE<sub>2</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> is chosen for further analysis of PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGE<sub>3</sub> in cL-15 medium.

$$RF = 2.48 \times 10^{-1} - 1.77 \times 10^{-4} [PGE_2] - 7.47 \times 10^{-3} [PGE_2 - d_4] + 6.94 \times 10^{-5} [PGE_2 - d_4]^2 \quad (2.14)$$

$$RF = 1.27 \times 10^{1} - 2.22 \times 10^{-1} [PGE_{3}] - 6.03 \times 10^{-2} [PGE_{2} - d_{4}] + 1.13 \times 10^{-3} [PGE_{3}]^{2} + 8.59 \times 10^{-4} [PGE_{2} - d_{4}]^{2}$$
(2.15)



Figure 2.15 Behavior of RF as a function of (a)  $PGE_2$  and  $PGE_2$ -d<sub>4</sub>; (b)  $PGE_3$  and  $PGE_2$ -d<sub>4</sub> in cL-15 medium, values in the figures represent the mean ± standard deviation of RFs

Three concentrations of LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> (27, 70 and 190 ng/ml) were observed where RF values remain almost constant in the whole analytical range (**Figure 2.16**). Based on eicosanoid price considerations, a concentration of 27 ng/ml of LTB<sub>4</sub>-d<sub>4</sub> was selected for the analysis of LTB<sub>4</sub> in cL-15 medium.

$$RF = 1.53 + 2.82 \times 10^{-3} [LTB_4] - 2.03 \times 10^{-2} [LTB_4 - d_4] + 7.84 \times 10^{-5} [LTB_4 - d_4]^2$$
(2.16)



Figure 2.16 Behavior of RF as a function of  $LTB_4$  and  $LTB_4$ -d<sub>4</sub> in cL-15 medium, values in the figures represent the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of RFs

The behavior of RF for 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> (Figure 2.17a) was similar to that described in Figure 2.16. An optimal concentration region between 35-50 ng/ml of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-d<sub>4</sub> over the entire

6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> range was observed (**Figure 2.17a**). Considering that the behavior of RF for  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> was independent of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-d<sub>4</sub> (**Figure 2.17b**), it was decided that 45 ng/ml of internal standard represents the optimal amount of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-d<sub>4</sub> for the analysis of 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> produced by fish cells in cL-15 medium.

$$RF = 9.98 \times 10^{-1} + 8.04 \times 10^{-4} [6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha}] - 4.41 \times 10^{-3} [6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha} - d_4] + 1.49 \times 10^{-5} [6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha} - d_4]^2$$
(2.17)

 $RF = 3.16 - 8.07 \times 10^{-3} [\Delta 17 - 6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha}] + 4.00 \times 10^{-3} [6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha} - d_4]$  $-3.81 \times 10^{-5} [\Delta 17 - 6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha}] [6 - keto - PGF_{1\alpha} - d_4]$ (2.18)



**Figure 2.17** Behavior of RF as a function of (**a**) 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-d<sub>4</sub>; (**b**)  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-d<sub>4</sub> in cL-15 medium, values in the figures represent the mean ± standard deviation of RFs

Similar regression models were derived for  $RvD_1$  and  $RvD_2$  where RF values were expressed as functions of  $RvD_1$  or  $RvD_2$ , their common internal standard ( $RvD_2$ -d<sub>5</sub>) and the interaction between them (**Eq. 2.19** and **Eq. 2.20**). The second-order terms were not significant in both cases. For  $RvD_1$ , the RF was constant at concentration levels below 20 ng/ml of  $RvD_2$ -d<sub>5</sub> (**Figure 2.18a**). However, at this particular level the chromatographic peak exhibited a noisy baseline. For  $RvD_2$ , the RF was constant (1.88±0.14) in the range of 40-110 ng/ml of  $RvD_2$ -d<sub>5</sub> (**Figure 2.18b**). It was decided that 41 ng/ml of  $RvD_2$ -d<sub>5</sub> represent an optimal concentration level for the analysis of  $RvD_1$  and  $RvD_2$ generated by fish cells in cL-15 medium.

$$RF = 1.03 + 6.57 \times 10^{-5} [RvD_1] + 2.89 \times 10^{-3} [RvD_2 - d_5] - 2.47 \times 10^{-5} [RvD_1] [RvD_2 - d_5]$$
(2.19)

$$RF = 1.29 + 4.70 \times 10^{-3} [RvD_2] + 7.27 \times 10^{-3} [RvD_2 - d_5] - 5.27 \times 10^{-5} [RvD_2] [RvD_2 - d_5]$$
(2.20)



Figure 2.18 Behavior of RF as a function of (a)  $RvD_1$  and  $RvD_2$ -d<sub>5</sub>; (b)  $RvD_2$  and  $RvD_2$ -d<sub>5</sub> in cL-15 medium, values in the figures represent the mean ±standard deviation of RFs.

 Table 2.4 Statistical validation results of the RF models for selecting optimal levels of internal standards associated to the analysis of different eicosanoids generated by fish cells in cL-15 medium

	PGE <sub>3</sub>	PGE <sub>2</sub>	$LTB_4$	6-keto-PGF $_{1\alpha}$	$\Delta$ -17-6-keto-PGF <sub>1a</sub>	$RvD_1$	$RvD_2$
Residual variance	198.461(16)	0.389(17)	2.715(17)	0.600(14)	10.636(14)	0.696(14)	1.376(14)
Pure error	197.085(14)	0.324(14)	2.157(14)	0.587(12)	10.019(12)	0.634(12)	1.056(12)
variance							
Lack-of-fit	1.375(2)	0.066(3)	0.558(3)	0.013(2)	0.617(2)	0.062(2)	0.320(2)
variance							
F <sub>estimated</sub>	0.049	0.945	1.206	0.137	0.369	0.591	1.819
F <sub>theoretical</sub>	3.739	3.344	3.344	3.885	3.885	3.885	3.885

## 2.3.2 Method validation

Method validation is a process that defines the analytical characteristics of a method. Usually, once a new method is developed, its validation is necessary to confirm its precision and reliability.

After selecting the optimal internal standard concentrations, the developed SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method described in **Section 2.1** was submitted to analytical validation. The validation parameters considered in the present study were: selectivity, LOD, LOQ, linearity, analytical range, precision and recovery.

## 2.3.2.1 Selectivity

According to IUPAC, the term selectivity is defined as "the extent to which a method can determine a particular analyte in a complex mixture without interference from other components in

the mixture" <sup>216</sup>. The definition in question implies that the signal should be only due to the occurrence of analyte. This is considered the most important parameter in a method validation.

One advantage of chromatography is its separation ability. Compounds are separated and eluted in different retention times which can guarantee the selectivity. However, many analytes from the same category have similar retention times such as  $PGE_2$  and  $PGE_3$ . In this case, to guarantee the selectivity, mass spectra are needed.

The developed SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method was highly selective as showed in the different EICs for leukotrienes (Figure 2.2a-Figure 2.2b and Figure 2.10a-Figure 2.10b), prostaglandins (Figure 2.3a-Figure 2.3c and Figure 2.11a-Figure 2.11c)), prostacyclyns (Figure 2.4a-Figure 2.4c and Figure 2.12a-Figure 2.12c)) and resolvins (Figure 2.5a-Figure 2.5b and Figure 2.13a-Figure 2.13b)) in both media, EBM-2 medium and cL-15 medium.

### 2.3.2.2 Limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ)

LOD is the smallest concentration of analyte that can be detected with statistically significant certainty while the LOQ is the smallest concentration of analyte that can be quantified with an acceptable accuracy and precision. They can be determined by a) visual inspection of a recorded signal; b) the slope of a calibration curve; and c) the signal to noise ratio of a blank sample <sup>216</sup>.

In the present thesis, the last approach (c) was used to determine the LOD and LOQ as follows: blank samples are injected in pentaplicate (for each type of medium), the corresponding EICs of the studied eicosanoids are obtained, their areas at specific retention times are monitored and the standard deviations for each type of blank medium ( $\sigma_{blank}$ ) calculated. The LOD and LOQ are defined by the concentrations of spiked medium solutions that are able to produce analytical signals equivalent to  $3 \times \sigma_{blank}$  and  $6 \times \sigma_{blank}$ . The LOD and LOQ values determined experimentally are shown in **Table 2.5** and **Table 2.6**.

### 2.3.2.3 Linearity and analytical range

Linearity is the ability of an analytical method to provide an analytical response proportional to the concentration or the amount of analyte within a specified range. Whereas, the range of an analytical method is defined as the interval between LOQ and upper concentration (amounts) of analyte in the sample for which it has been demonstrated that the analytical procedure has an acceptable level of precision, accuracy and linearity. Mathematically, linearity is expressed as **Eq. 2.21**:

$$y = a(x) + b \tag{2.21}$$

where *y*, in the present case, is the analyte/internal standard signal ratio, *x* is the analytical concentration and *a* and *b* are the slope an intercept of the calibration function respectively. 2.3.2.4 Precision

Precision is the closeness of agreement between measured values obtained by replicate measurements on the same or similar objects under specified conditions. Repeatability, intermediate precision and reproducibility are three terms associated with precision.

Repeatability is the precision of results obtained in the same measurement conditions (analyst, laboratory, instrument, etc.) over a short period of time.

Intermediate precision is the precision of results obtained in a given laboratory over an extended period of time.

Reproducibility is the precision of results obtained by changing one or more measurement conditions over a short or an extended period of time.

In this thesis, the relative standard deviation of triplicate spiked medium solutions at low, medium and high concentration levels of specific eicosanoids (50, 100 and 200 ng/ml respectively) are used to determine the precision of the method. The results (**Tables 2.5-2.6**) revealed acceptable levels of precision for EBM-2 medium (0.2-27.3%) and cL-15 medium (3.5-30.7%). The precision results fulfilled the requirements for biological samples ( $\leq 30\%$ )<sup>217</sup>.

## 2.3.2.5 Recovery

Recovery is a parameter to measure accuracy which is defined as the closeness of agreement between a measured value and true value. The ratio between the measured to nominal concentration is referred as recovery and it is generally expressed in percentage units (%).

In the present thesis, the recovery studies were carried out by adding known amounts of the various analytes into blank media (EBM-2 and cL-15) to make concentrations of 50, 100 and 200 ng/ml of the various eicosanoids. Every level of concentration was prepared in triplicate. The recoveries of different analytes varied from 57.1% to 127.2 % for EBM-2 medium and from 63.9% to 128.4% for cL-15 medium. A statistical analysis for the wide recovery range observed for PGE<sub>3</sub>

and LTB<sub>4</sub> in EBM-2 medium was performed by obtaining the z values and computing the normal distribution function. The results (**Appendix I**) allow to conclude that in those ranges (for PGE<sub>3</sub> and LTB<sub>4</sub>), the concentrations will lie between  $\pm 2\sigma$  of the normal curve and consequently they are considered acceptable ranges. It is important to mention that these results were discussed with an expert in biological cell culture experiments who considered that these recovery ranges were very strict when compared to the wider levels of variation expected in cell experiments.

	LOD (ng/ml)	LOQ (ng/ml)	Recovery (%)	Range (ng/ml)	Precision (%)
PGE <sub>2</sub>	0.1	0.1	81.0-120.9	0.1-200	1.4-16.3
PGE <sub>3</sub>	0.1	0.1	60.9-120.9	0.1-200	2.0-13.6
$LTB_4$	0.1	0.1	57.1-118.2	0.1-200	11.2-20.7
6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>	0.1	0.6	91.4-108.8	0.6-200	6.2-14.4
$\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF <sub>1a</sub>	0.1	0.6	88.9-127.2	0.6-200	8.4-24.1
$RvD_1$	0.1	0.1	87.6-124.5	0.1-200	0.2-22.2
$RvD_2$	0.1	0.1	83.2-109.6	0.1-200	1.4-5.7

 Table 2.5 Method validation parameters in EBM-2 medium

Table 2.6 Method validation parameters for cL-15 medium

	LOD (ng/ml)	LOQ (ng/ml)	Recovery (%)	Range (ng/ml)	Precision (%)
PGE <sub>2</sub>	0.1	0.1	63.9-128.4	0.1-200	4.5-30.7
PGE <sub>3</sub>	0.6	8.0	93.6-124.5	8-200	5.4-19.5
$LTB_4$	0.1	0.3	67.0-115.1	0.3-200	10.4-28.0
6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>	0.1	0.1	96.8-115.2	0.1-200	3.5-18.4
$\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF <sub>1a</sub>	2.0	8.0	88.6-125.7	8-200	9.6-21.3
$RvD_1$	0.6	1.0	97.7-118.2	1-200	10.5-28.1
$RvD_2$	0.3	0.6	91.4-112.0	0.6-200	9.1-26.2

### **2.4 Conclusions**

In this chapter, a new SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method was developed to simultaneously analyze seven eicosanoids (PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>,  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>, RvD<sub>1</sub> and RvD<sub>2</sub>) in cL-15 medium and EBM-2 medium. The optimal concentrations of internal standards were selected by an experimental design and different validation parameters are also defined. The method has proved to be selective, precise, accurate and suitable for the analysis of eicosanoids generated by human cells in EBM-2 medium and fish cells in cL-15 medium.

# 3. Application of the method to Salmon liver cells

### **3.1 Experimental**

### 3.1.1 Reagents

Complete cL-15 medium was prepared by mixing Leibowitch L-15 medium with 1% glutamax, 1% antibiotika and 10% FBS.

1 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> and perfusion buffer containing 1.4 M NaCl, 0.067M KCl and 0.09M Hepes Sodium Salt at pH 7.4 were prepared and used as stock solutions.

Perfusion buffer containing EDTA was prepared by adding 1.11 g EDTA disodium salt to 20 ml of perfusion buffer and diluted to 200 mL using ultra-pure water; pH was finally adjusted to 7.4.

Perfusion buffer containing collagenase was prepared by first diluting 10 ml of perfusion buffer to 100 mL and adjusting pH=7.4. Then, 100  $\mu$ L 1M CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 100 mg collagenase were added. Both of buffers containing EDTA and collagenase should be freshly prepared.

### 3.1.2 Isolation of the cells

The fish were anaesthetized by metacaine (MS222, 0.5 gram/10 L) and the livers were perfused with a perfusion buffer containing EDTA at a flow of 4 ml/min until free of blood. Thereafter, the livers were digested with collagenase (collagenase dissolved in stock perfusion buffer as describe before). The isolated cells were harvested in 10 ml 10% phosphate-buffered saline buffer (PBS buffer: 0.002M KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.02M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.03M KCl and 0.14M NaCl, pH 7.4), filtrated through a 100 µm mesh cell strainer and washed twice in the PBS buffer, re-suspended in cL-15 medium before the viability of the isolated cells was assessed. All centrifugations were done by 50 g for 5 min. The viability of the liver cells was above 90% (range: 90.8 to 94.4%). The isolations of cells were done with sterile equipment and buffers.

### 3.1.3 Cell culture

The culture plate was first conditioned by adding 1% Laminin (500  $\mu$ L Laminin in 50 mL PBS) 1920  $\mu$ L/well and kept overnight. Once the cells were obtained, these solutions were removed and 1.67×10<sup>6</sup> liver

cells were added to each well. According to the  $2^4$ - full factorial design (**Table 3.1**), different combinations of fatty acids were added. At each experimental point, triplicate was done.

When the signal is positive (+), 0.5 mL medium containing the corresponding fatty acid with a concentration of 46  $\mu$ M was added. Different fatty acids were first attached to FBS and then complete cL-15 medium was prepared using this FBS instead of normal one. When the signal is negative (-), 0.5 mL normal complete cL-15 medium was added. At 16<sup>th</sup> experimental point, besides 2 ml normal complete medium, 25  $\mu$ L of ethanol were also added.

After incubating 24 h at 9  $^{\circ}$ C in an incubator device (Sanyo Electric CO., Ltd., Osaka, Japan), the medium was collected carefully without disturbing the cells attached to the bottom of the plate and stored at -80  $^{\circ}$ C until the analysis by HPLC-MS/MS

			5	
	LA	AA	EPA	DHA
1	+	+	+	+
2	+	+	+	-
3	+	+	-	+
4	+	+	-	-
5	+	-	+	+
6	+	-	+	-
7	+	-	-	+
8	+	-	-	-
9	-	+	+	+
10	-	+	+	-
11	-	+	-	+
12	-	+	-	-
13	-	-	+	+
14	-	-	+	-
15	-	-	-	+
16	-	-	-	-

**Table 3.1** 2<sup>4</sup>- full factorial design

# 3.2 Statistical analysis

# 3.2.1 Multifactor ANOVA

Usually, analysis of variance (ANOVA) is used to detect significant factors. When there is only one factor influencing the experimental response, one-way ANOVA can be used. However, when several variables are affecting the experimental response, multifactor ANOVA is applied. In this section, the

multifactor ANOVA theory is explained by using as an example a  $2^4$ - full factorial design (**Table 3.2**).

		*		0	*	
NO.	Code		Responses		Mean Response	Mean in each group
1	+	X <sub>1-1</sub>	X <sub>1-2</sub>	X <sub>1-3</sub>	$\overline{\mathrm{X}}_{1}$	
						$\overline{\mathbf{X}}_+$
8	+	$X_{8-1}$	X <sub>8-2</sub>	X <sub>8-3</sub>	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}_{8}$	
9	-	$X_{9-1}$	X <sub>9-2</sub>	X <sub>9-3</sub>	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}_{9}$	
•						
•						$\overline{\mathbf{X}}_{-}$
•						
16	-	X <sub>16-1</sub>	X <sub>16-2</sub>	X <sub>16-3</sub>	$\overline{\mathrm{X}}_{16}$	
					Global mean	Ā

**Table 3.2** Example of a  $2^4$  -factorial design used for the explanation of multifactor ANOVA

In a 2<sup>4</sup>- factorial design, 16 experimental points are set and measured preferably in triplicate. From the measured responses, the following values are calculated: mean response of each triplicate ( $\overline{X}_i$ ), mean response when the corresponding factor is negative ( $\overline{X}_-$ ), mean response when the factor is positive ( $\overline{X}_+$ ) and mean response of all the experiments ( $\overline{X}$ ).

Then, mean square of effect and mean square of error can be calculated according to **Eq. 3.1** and **Eq. 3.2**, respectively. F-value is defined as the ratio between MS<sub>effect</sub> and MS<sub>error</sub> (**Eq. 3.3**).

$$MS_{effect} = \frac{\left[\Sigma(\bar{X} - \overline{X_{+}})^2 + \Sigma(\bar{X} - \overline{X_{-}})^2\right](N \times K)}{2 - 1}$$
(3.1)

$$MS_{error} = \frac{\Sigma(\bar{x_i} - X_{i-j})^2}{P-R}$$
(3.2)

$$F = \frac{MS_{effect}}{MS_{error}}$$
(3.3)

Where N is the number of experimental points in each group, K is the number of the replicates, P is the total number of experiments, and R is the total number of experimental points.

Thereafter, the corresponding confidence level related to F-value can be calculated in Excel 2010. Usually, if the confidence level is higher than 95% (p-value lower than 0.05), the factor is considered statistically significant.

# 3.2.2 Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) test

LSD is a test that can compare the mean of two groups. In this test, the square root of the mean square error from ANOVA is considered to be a pooled standard deviation. Considering the sample size of the two groups being compared, a standard error of difference between those two means is calculated. LSD is defined as the product of this standard error multiplied by a t-value in a confidence level (**Eq. 3.4**).

$$LSD = t_{\nu,\alpha} \sqrt{MS_{error} \frac{2}{N}}$$
(3.4)

Where N is the number of observations in each group, v is the degrees of freedom and it is equal to 2N-2,  $\alpha$  is the significance level which is often used as 0.05. MS<sub>error</sub> is the mean square of error, and it is calculated as the way in one-way ANOVA like **Eq. 3.5**.

$$MS_{error} = \frac{(\overline{X_{+}} - X_{ij})^{2} + (\overline{X_{-}} - X_{ij})^{2}}{2N - 2}$$
(3.5)

The symbols in Eq. 3.5 have the same meaning as defined in section 3.2.1.

### 3.2.3 Statistical software

Statgraphics Centurion XV version was used for computing numerically and graphically the significance of the factors by means of the multifactor analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Fisher's least significance options respectively.

## 3.3 Results and discussion

The developed and validated SPE-HPLC-MS/MS was successfully used for the simultaneous determination of prostaglandins (PGE<sub>1</sub>, PGE<sub>2</sub>), prostacyclins (6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>,  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>), leukotriene (LTB<sub>4</sub>) and resolvins (RvD<sub>1</sub>, RvD<sub>2</sub>) generated by salmon liver cells in cL-15 medium. The production of prostaglandins, prostacyclins and leukotriene were effectively confirmed by the new method (**Table 3.3**). Unfortunately, the resolvins were not detected in the analyzed samples.

Some reports have established similar metabolic pathways (dotted circle line in **Figure 1.2**) for the isobaric resolvins  $RvD_1$ ,  $RvD_2$  (analyzed in this work) and  $RvD_3$ ,  $RvD_4$  (MW= 376). The expected base

peak generated by  $RvD_1$  and  $RvD_2$  (m/z 375 $\rightarrow$ 141) and  $RvD_3$  and  $RvD_4$  (m/z 375 $\rightarrow$ 147)<sup>218</sup> were extracted from the chromatograms of analyzed medium. Surprisingly, the results did not show the presence of the former resolvins (**Figure. 3.1a**). However, a significant peak for the latter resolvins (**Figure 3.1b**) with intensity similar to its internal standard was observed. These unexpected results indicated that the major metabolites of DHA in salmon liver cells are  $RvD_3$  and  $RvD_4$ , and not  $RvD_1$  and  $RvD_2$  (as initially assumed in the present thesis).



Figure 3.1 EICs of the **a**) resolvins analyzed in this work ( $RvD_1$  and  $RvD_2$  at m/z 375 $\rightarrow$ 141) and **b**) resolvins not analyzed in this work ( $RvD_3$  and  $RvD_4$  at m/z 375 $\rightarrow$ 147) with their corresponding internal standard ( $RvD_2$ -d<sub>5</sub> at m/z 380 $\rightarrow$ 141) generated by salmon liver cells in cL-15 medium.

The concentrations of other eicosanoids (PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>) were determined by using their corresponding RF values and the results are shown in **Table 3.3**.

A multifactor ANOVA was applied to study the impact of different fatty acids on the production of eicosanoids by salmon liver cells and the results of this analysis are shown in **Table 3.4**. The graphical representations of the mean concentrations of the generated eicosanoids with their corresponding 95% least significant intervals are shown in **Figure 3.2-1** and **Figure 3.2-2**.

exposure to different PUFAs.						
		LTB4	PGE2	6-keto-PGF <sub>1a</sub>	PGE3	$\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF <sub>1</sub>
	1.1	0.390	3.175	2.786	8.669	6.581
LA+AA+EPA+DHA	1.2	0.646	6.011	1.129	30.827	8.170
	1.3	0.559	4.437	2.537	18.486	4.114
	2.1	0.882	4.645	2.264	4.525	5.891
LA+AA+EPA	2.2	0.932	4.610	1.115	42.721	5.998
	2.3	0.431	4.798	1.635	5.592	3.637
	3.1	0.675	3.493	2.304	8.819	5.163
LA+AA+DHA	3.2	1.217	2.635	0.930	4.093	4.339
	3.3	1.121	3.465	2.304	12.723	3.967
	4.1	0.351	2.074	3.181	9.808	5.049
LA+AA	4.2	0.589	1.105	1.115	3.206	5.803
	4.3	0.514	3.391	1.504	15.985	7.247
	5.1	0.832	0.814	0.437	8.880	0.866
LA+EPA+DHA	5.2	1.031	1.108	0.368	2.832	0.613
	5.3	0.684	0.354	0.381	13.408	1.115
	6.1	0.632	0.208	0.340	3.489	1.494
LA+EPA	6.2	0.596	0.186	0.067	4.252	0.730
	6.3	0.663	0.345	0.257	5.837	0.329
	7.1	0.191	0.326	0.642	4.427	2.733
LA+DHA	7.2	0.441	0.864	0.315	7.315	0.963
	7.3	0.725	0.400	0.277	10.474	0.251
	8.2	0.272	0.226	0.392	6.313	1.033
LA	8.2	0.351	0.131	0.245	5.576	0.658
	8.3	0.322	0.586	0.268	4.142	0.810
	9.1	0.934	4,793	3.624	6.916	7.123
AA+EPA+DHA	9.2	0.895	1.225	1.570	3.166	4.813
	9.3	0.954	4.418	2.279	7.228	7.517
	10.1	0.577	3.173	3.377	13.128	10.610
AA+EPA	10.2	0.545	4.112	2.131	11.950	7.100
	10.3	0.687	7.032	2.738	10.290	8.734
	11.1	0.738	3.463	2.945	13.109	6.782
AA+DHA	11.2	1.011	3.015	1.208	10.120	7.248
	11.3	0.958	6.634	1.719	7.519	6.296
	12.1	0.379	4,149	2.509	8.693	6.426
AA	12.2	0.503	2.191	1.890	3.337	7.110
	12.3	0.697	5.555	2.199	5.517	8.889
	13.1	0.820	0.785	0.514	2.671	0.435
EPA+DHA	13.2	0.890	0.831	0.601	8.731	1.628
	13.3	0.890	0.389	0.309	6.987	1.623
	14.1	1.017	1.296	1.077	9.827	2,791
EPA	14.2	0.687	0.979	0.759	5.039	1.639
	14.3	0.955	0.667	1.001	5.054	3.333
	15.1	0.747	1.022	0.402	8.792	3.404
DHA	15.2	0.361	0.383	0.181	4.154	1.410
	15.3	0.877	0.340	0.539	4.395	3.933
	16.1	0.145	0.194	0.573	3.082	0.706
with ETOH	16.2	0.571	0.175	0.267	4.823	0.654
	16.3	0.654	0.260	0.558	5.906	1.732

 Table 3.3 Concentrations in ng/ml of various eicosanoids released in cL-15 medium by salmon liver cells after



Figure 3.2-1 Mean concentration values with their 95% least significant intervals of different eicosanoids in cL-15 medium of salmon liver cells



	production of various crossinolas by sumon river cens.							
	$LTB_4$	PGE <sub>2</sub>	$6\text{-keto-PGF}_{1\alpha}$	PGE <sub>3</sub>	$\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>			
LA	0.0610↓	0.3137↓	0.0529↓	0.1376 †	0.0001↓*			
AA	0.1551 †	0.0000 † *	0.0000 † *	0.0161 † *	0.0000 † *			
EPA	0.0059 † *	0.0659 †	0.2438 †	0.1588 1	0.5854 †			
DHA	0.0008 † *	0.7625 †	0.7779↓	0.7269 1	0.3530↓			
LA*AA	0.3083 †	0.5846↓	0.5286↓	0.2366 †	0.1662↓			
LA*EPA	0.5812↓	0.2071 †	0.2142↓	0.3471 †	0.8744 ↓			
LA*DHA	0.5923 ↓	0.3412 1	0.2089 †	0.6391 †	0.3281 †			
AA*EPA	0.0015 ↓ *	0.2830 †	0.6393 †	0.2707 1	0.3313 †			
AA*DHA	0.2784 †	0.7481 ↓	0.9000 †	0.6327↓	0.0928↓			
EPA*DHA	0.0338↓*	0.2053↓	0.8630 †	0.6379↓	0.3067↓			
LA*AA*EPA	0.3612↓	0.0745 †	0.7902↓	0.2246 †	0.9401 †			
LA*AA*DHA	0.1846↓	0.6681 †	0.9741 †	0.8487↓	0.3168 †			
LA*EPA*DHA	0.3740↓	0.5459 1	0.4550 †	0.2962 †	0.0102 † *			
AA*EPA*DHA	0.1344 ↓	0.3329↓	0.5276 †	0.6291↓	0.0764 †			
LA*AA*EPA*DHA	0.0246 ↓ *	0.8641↓	0.9194 †	0.5389 †	0.5631 †			

 Table 3.4 Multifactor ANOVA results with the significant effects (P- values) for the impact of PUFAs on the production of various eicosanoids by salmon liver cells.

'\*' indicates significant effect at confidence level of 95%

'↑' indicates the mean concentration of corresponding eicosanoid with the addition of fatty acids is higher than that without fatty acids;

'\' indicates the mean concentration of corresponding eicosanoid with the addition of fatty acids is lower than that without fatty acids

Table 3.4 and Figure 3.2 show that the presence of AA significantly increases the production of PGE<sub>2</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub> and  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>. The concentration of LTB<sub>4</sub> is also slightly increased by AA, but its effect is not significant. Increase of PGE<sub>2</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> and LTB<sub>4</sub> indicates that during the incubation period, AA is incorporated into the cell membrane resulting in the releasing of AA into the cells and the synthesis of AA-derived eicosanoids The high levels of PGE<sub>2</sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> compared to the low levels of LTB<sub>4</sub> produced after exposing the cells to AA, are indicative that the added  $\omega$ -6 PUFA is basically enrolled in COX pathway instead of LOX pathway. The production of EPA metabolites, PGE<sub>3</sub> and  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub>, are also increased after exposing the cells to AA. Although, it was not expected the AA could have an influence on the aforementioned EPA metabolites, some researchers has already demonstrated that the presence of AA can stimulate in some degree the production of  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> in human endothelial cells<sup>219</sup>. In addition, increased levels of EPA-metabolites have also been observed in skin cells

from dogs fed n-6/n-3 diet ratios of 5/1 and  $10/1^{220}$ .

Production of LTB<sub>4</sub> is enhanced either by the presence of EPA or DHA. This confirms that EPA and DHA are incorporated into the by-layer phospholipid cell membrane after releasing AA in a dose- and time-dependent manner<sup>221,222</sup>. At the first 24 h, EPA and DHA are incorporated into the cell membrane at the expense of AA which is released and converted into AA-derived eicosanoids. The significance of EPA and DHA in the production of LOX metabolites compared to COX metabolites could be explained in terms of the activation energy of both enzymes (COX and LOX). For instance, if the activation energy of LOX were lower than that of COX, then it would be expected that the reaction rate of the former enzyme would be larger than of the latter enzyme and a higher production of LOX metabolites compared to COX metabolites compared to COX metabolites compared to COX metabolites compared to COX metabolites would be observed<sup>223</sup>. Unfortunately, this kind of measurements requires another type of experimental set up that was not considered at the time of designing the present experiments.

LA reduces the production of  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> significantly (**Table 3.4, Figure 4.2**). The production of PGE<sub>3</sub> and all the AA-derived metabolites are slightly affected by the exposure of salmon liver cells to LA. The former and the latter revealed some non-significant increased and decreased production of eicosanoids respectively (**Table 3.4, Figure 4.2**). It is possible that LA could form some AA (as indicated in **Figure 1.2**) which in turn replaces EPA in the cell membrane. The released EPA causes a decreasing in the levels of all the AA-metabolites due to the activation of the COX-pathways of EPA through the PGH<sub>3</sub> synthase. It is well-known that PGH<sub>3</sub> synthase is a common substrate for the production of both  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> and PGE<sub>3</sub>. The synthesis of  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> is possible through a multiple step mechanism where several chemical compounds are involved while the formation of PGE<sub>3</sub> requires a less complex mechanism. Consequently, the observed reduction of  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> and increase of PGE<sub>3</sub> could be explained as a result of spending PGH<sub>3</sub> synthase in the formation of latter instead of the former. Perhaps, it would be advisable to measure the levels of PGI<sub>3</sub> which is the precursor of  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> to determine effectively whether or not the PGH<sub>3</sub> synthase has more affinity towards the production of the prostaglandin rather than the prostacyclin.

One interesting finding is that both AA and EPA increase the production of five out of the seven eicosanoids studied in the present investigation. However, when they are present in medium at the same concentration, their combined effect remarkably decrease the production of  $LTB_4$  and slightly increase the production of all the COX-metabolites. The interaction EPA×DHA decreases the production of  $LTB_4$  which is also opposite to the individual effect of EPA or DHA indicating perhaps that the ratio between

different PUFAs is a relevant aspect that should be evaluated when studying their impact on the on the production of eicosanoids<sup>1</sup>.

Usually, high-order interactions are negligible. However, the significance of the interactions LA ×EPA ×DHA and LA ×AA ×EPA ×DHA in Table 3.4 could be related to the incorporation and releasing of PUFAs. However, these results should be confirmed by introducing more replicates or perhaps by proposing a different experimental design.

# **3.4 Conclusions**

In this chapter, the validated SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method was used to analyze the levels of eicosanoids released in cL-15 medium by salmon liver cells exposed to different combination of PUFAs. The present results seems to confirm the observations of Calder<sup>222</sup> who has recently pointed out that the actions of  $\omega$ -6 and  $\omega$ -3 PUFAs and their derivatives on inflammatory processes involve more complex mechanisms than previously recognized. Besides the availability of PUFAs, there are many other factors affecting the amount and type of the synthesized eicosanoids.

# 4. Application of the method to salmon head kidney cells

## 4.1 Experimental

### 4.1.1 Reagents

NaCl-EDTA buffer was prepared by dissolving 9 g NaCl and 7 g of EDTA in 1 L of  $H_2O$  and adjusting pH to 7.2.

Stock isotonic Pecoll (SIP) was prepared by mixing 10 mL of 1.5 M NaCl with 90 mL of Percoll.

From NaCl-EDTA buffer and SIP, 1.06 g/ml (21 ml SIP and 29 ml Buffer) and 1.08 g/ml (29 SIP and 21 Buffer) of Percoll gradients were prepared and then 10 mL of 1.06 gradient was added slowly to 10 mL of 1.08 gradient making sure these two phases were not mixed. The mixed Percoll gradients were used for cell isolation.

# 4.1.2 Isolation of cells

For each fish, the head kidneys were directly sampled and added PBS and then squeezed through a 40 uM Falcon cell strainer. The cells were transferred to tubes and centrifuged in a Hettich Zentrifugen, 320 R, at 400 g, 5 min, and 4 °C. Cell pellets were resuspended in PBS and layered carefully on top of equal amounts of diluted Percoll in densities 1.08 g/mL and 1.06 g/mL. The tubes were centrifuged at 800 g, 30 min, at room temperature. The cell layer in the interface containing the head kidney leukocytes was collected and the cells were pelleted by centrifugation, 400 g, 4 °C, and 5 min. An additional washing step in PBS was performed. In addition the cells were counted.

## 4.1.3 Cell culture

 $1.72 \times 10^6$  head kidney cells were added to each well and different combinations of fatty acids were added according to  $2^4$  -factorial design as the same with liver cells. These cultures were also incubated at 9 °C in the incubator device. After 24h, suspensions were first centrifuged at 3200 rpm, 6 °C for 6 min and then the supernatant were collected carefully and stored at -80 °C until the analysis by HPLC-MS/MS.

		enposer	e to uniferent			
		LTB4	PGE2	6-keto-PGF <sub>1a</sub>	PGE3	$\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF <sub>1</sub>
	1.1	1.032	0.725	11.495	0.305	31.152
LA+AA+EPA+DHA	1.2	0.902	0.924	17.876	0.584	3.294
	1.3	2.558	0.858	0.019	0.931	6.303
	2.1	2.078	0.838	1.015	0.534	2.748
LA+AA+EPA	2.2	1.712	0.763	1.066	0.486	4.864
	2.3	2.709	1.024	2.853	1.301	19.079
	3.1	1.296	1.309	1.066	0.966	1.895
LA+AA+DHA	3.2	1.157	0.896	0.023	1.010	0.061
	3.3	2.086	1.393	1.149	1.124	1.034
	4.1	0.990	0.855	0.786	0.399	1.710
LA+AA	4.2	0.545	1.308	0.044	0.528	0.082
	4.3	0.991	1.095	0.089	1.196	0.106
	5.1	0.477	0.045	1.443	0.916	2.677
LA+EPA+DHA	5.2	0.306	0.037	2.317	0.390	3.518
	5.3	0.792	0.166	9.929	1.677	5.746
	6.1	0.224	0.051	2.793	0.465	3.295
LA+EPA	6.2	0.296	0.037	2.012	0.357	5.822
	6.3	0.647	0.954	16.391	13.736	19.739
	7.1	0.260	0.022	5.821	0.467	3.693
LA+DHA	7.2	0.266	0.019	3.298	0.691	2.651
	7.3	0.182	0.051	6.880	1.053	1.852
	8.2	0.025	0.012	1.778	0.256	1.186
LA	8.2	0.031	0.019	3.160	0.215	4.748
	8.3	0.832	0.164	3.434	1.410	3.460
	9.1	2.057	1.025	10.560	0.531	27.114
AA+EPA+DHA	9.2	0.260	0.022	16.146	0.467	39.729
	9.3	2.883	0.885	53.727	1.214	68.589
	10.1	1.241	0.812	17.846	0.329	52.346
AA+EPA	10.2	1.103	0.993	11.275	0.408	33.132
	10.3	3.296	1.036	29.956	1.624	28.281
	11.1	1.101	1.004	21.904	0.372	35.263
AA+DHA	11.2	0.850	0.836	21.170	0.298	38.661
	11.3	2.963	1.376	32.968	1.693	54.500
	12.1	1.187	1.423	25.834	0.408	61.174
AA	12.2	0.465	1.525	8.921	0.952	42.691
	12.3	2.517	1.272	48.918	1.852	53.586
	13.1	0.313	0.034	1.546	0.134	7.897
EPA+DHA	13.2	0.348	0.030	2.996	0.328	6.509
	13.3	0.191	0.093	3.680	1.122	6.359
EDA	14.1	0.395	0.055	1.451	0.338	8.481
EPA	14.2	0.237	0.056	1.403	0.267	9.566
	14.3	0.411	0.142	3.445	1.694	15.453
	15.1	0.021	0.022	1.229	0.204	3.731
DHA	15.2	0.039	0.020	2.570	0.254	2.707
	15.5	0.141	0.152	/.001	0.910	0.970
with ETOIL	16.1	0.055	0.028	4.001	0.318	6.816
	10.2	0.075	0.026	4.182	0.242	4.011
	16.3	0.482	0.242	8.850	2.203	9.253

 Table 4.1 Concentrations in ng/ml of various eicosanoids released in cL-15 medium by salmon head kidney cells after exposure to different PUFAs.

## 4.2 Results and discussion

The studied resolvins released in cL-15 medium by salmon head kidney cells were also not detected (similar results to the previous section by using salmon liver cells). The results showed in Table 4.2 and **Figure 4.1** reveal that LA reduces the production of  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> significantly. The production of PGE<sub>3</sub> is slightly increased while the remaining eicosanoids are not affected. The observed production trends for  $\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF<sub>1a</sub> and PGE<sub>3</sub> have been already explained in the previous chapter, while the decreasing levels 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> could be interpreted as a significant reduction of AA which is incorporated into the cell membrane with the subsequent releasing of EPA. The results for AA (Table 4.2, Figure 4.1) are similar to those reported for salmon liver cells (Table 3.4, Figure 3.2) except that the production of PGE<sub>3</sub> is unaffected.

production of various eicosanoids by salmon head kidney cells.								
	$LTB_4$	$PGE_2$	$6$ -keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>	PGE <sub>3</sub>	$\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>			
LA	0.9599 †	0.7789 †	0.0004↓*	0.3642 1	0.0000↓*			
AA	0.0000 ↑ *	0.0000 ↑ *	0.0006 † *	0.4726↓	0.0000 ↑ *			
EPA	0.1062 †	0.0392↓*	0.9020 †	0.4312 †	0.2591 †			
DHA	0.9897 †	0.0934↓	0.5685 †	0.3270↓	0.6282↓			
LA*AA	0.4676↓	0.5826↓	0.0001↓*	0.3095↓	0.0000↓*			
LA*EPA	0.6420 †	0.2190 †	0.2319 †	0.3361 †	0.1042 †			
LA*DHA	0.9119 †	0.3791 †	0.7980 †	0.5867↓	0.6980 †			
AA*EPA	0.4732 †	0.0024↓*	0.8203 †	0.2811↓	0.7676↓			
AA*DHA	0.8872 †	0.7144↓	0.4912 †	0.3642 †	0.4614 †			
EPA*DHA	0.3625↓	0.5207↓	0.4768 †	0.3957↓	0.4958 †			
LA*AA*EPA	0.6617 †	0.9302↓	0.6655 †	0.3305↓	0.1211 †			
LA*AA*DHA	0.8142↓	0.0882 †	0.8972 †	0.4523 †	0.7294 †			
LA*EPA*DHA	0.6072↓	0.4435↓	0.6472↓	0.2978↓	0.4414 ↓			
AA*EPA*DHA	0.2158↓	0.8435 †	0.3445 †	0.4592 †	0.1695 †			
LA*AA*EPA*DHA	0.5063↓	0.9285 ↑	0.7862 1	0.4610 †	0.6472↓			

Table 4.2 Multifactor ANOVA results with the significant effects (P- values) for the impact of PUFAs on the

'\*' indicates significant effect at confidence level of 95%

the mean concentration of corresponding eicosanoid with the addition of fatty acids is higher than that without ' † ' indicates fatty acids;

'↓' indicates the mean concentration of corresponding eicosanoid with the addition of fatty acids is lower than that without fatty acids



52

Application of the method to salmon head kidney cells



The addition of EPA or DHA does not reveal any significant effect on the production of LTB<sub>4</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>. However, the production of PGE<sub>2</sub> is markedly reduced by either EPA or DHA, possibly due to the released of AA from the membrane which in term is engaged in the LOX pathway rather than the COX. This observation seems to be supported by the slightly increased levels of LTB<sub>4</sub> after the addition of EPA.

The combined effect LA×AA is similar to the effect of pure LA, while the effect of AA×EPA is similar to the effect of pure EPA. The observed similarity could suggest similar production mechanisms.

## 4.3 Conclusions

In general, the results after exposing salmon head kidney cells to pure or combined LA, AA, EPA and DHA were similar to those reported for salmon liver cells. The main differences with respect to the previous chapter were the decreased production of  $PGE_2$  (**Table 4.2**, **Figure 4.1**) after exposing the salmon head kidney cells to pure EPA. These observations could indicate that the two types of fish cells has the similar metabolism of PUFAs.

# 5. Application of the method to human umbilical vein endothelial cells

In the previous two chapters, the method is applied to two types of fish cells. There is slight difference for the effect of PUFAs on the production of eicosanoids in different types of cells, but in general, they are almost the same. In this chapter, the type of cells is changed from fish to human, and the effects of PUFAs on human cells are investigated.

### **5.1 Experimental**

## 5.1.1 Reagents

Complete EBM-2 medium containing EBM<sup>TM</sup>-2 basal medium supplemented with 0.1 % Heparin, 0.1 % R<sup>3</sup>-IGF-1, 0.1 % ascorbic acid, 0.04 % Hydrocortisone, 0.4 % h-FGF-B, 0.1 % h-EGF, 0.1 % GA-1000 and 2 % FBS.

#### 5.1.2 Cell culture

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) were bought from Sigma-Aldrich and incubated in culture plate with complete EBM-2 medium. Once the number of cells reached  $10^5$  cells/well, the medium was removed. Different fatty acids, which were first attached to FBS and then dissolved in EBM-2 medium, were added according to  $2^4$ -full factorial design. Cultures were incubated at 37 °C in humidified atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After 24 h, the supernatant were collected and stored at -80 °C until the analysis by HPLC-MS/MS.

### 5.2 Results and discussion

Resolvins are also not detected in HUVEC. **Table 5.1** shows the concentrations of the other five eicosanoids. The results of multi-factor ANOVA and LSD test are shown in **Table 5.2** and **Figure 5.1** respectively.





		ITD 4	DCE2	Claste DCE	DCE2	A17 Chata DCE
	1 1	<u>LI B4</u>	PGE2	$\frac{0-\text{Kel}(0-\text{PGF}_{1\alpha})}{2,707}$	<u>PGE5</u>	$\Delta 1 / -0 - Kelo - POF_{1\alpha}$
ΙΔΙΔΙΕΡΔΙΟΗΔ	1.1	0.115	4.510	2.191 5.197	2.845	9.449
LA+AA+EPA+DHA	1.2	9.113	2 9 9 5	J.107 4 502	2.332	10.070
	1.3	4.281	3.885	4.503	2.605	10.204
	2.1	2.778	9.870	4.787	2.858	15.033
LA+AA+EPA	2.2	3.010	8.738	4.069	3.056	9.749
	2.3	3.315	9.592	2.052	2.859	5.099
	3.1	8.509	6.369	1.661	2.804	7.264
LA+AA+DHA	3.2	9.517	5.613	2.422	2.548	3.267
	3.3	4.875	5.973	3.326	3.766	7.590
<b>.</b>	4.1	1.610	17.206	2.653	5.659	5.263
LA+AA	4.2	4.177	13.345	3.327	4.242	5.796
	4.3	2.567	6.076	2.004	2.883	6.611
	5.1	4.887	0.254	0.742	0.652	1.110
LA+EPA+DHA	5.2	4.931	0.296	0.605	0.648	2.964
	5.3	5.809	0.308	1.157	0.343	4.387
	6.1	6.393	0.775	2.721	0.889	3.184
LA+EPA	6.2	1.200	0.318	1.627	0.964	3.549
	6.3	1.801	0.426	1.573	0.779	4.838
	7.1	0.936	0.173	0.466	0.319	0.946
LA+DHA	7.2	1.965	0.151	0.805	0.341	1.824
	7.3	1.633	0.166	1.710	0.385	2.843
	8.2	0.771	0.354	1.649	0.315	1,166
LA	8.2	0.595	0.399	0.956	0.331	2.167
	8.3	0.457	0.376	1.424	0.465	3.927
	91	6 1 1 0	4 151	1 436	2,968	5 500
AA+EPA+DHA	9.2	5.548	9.890	1.943	4.074	6.853
	9.3					
	10.1	4 081	20 468	2.689	2,951	26 638
AA+EPA	10.2	1.147	20.077	3.193	6.307	31.578
	10.3	3.535	19.056	3.019	4.530	17.796
	11.1	3 1 5 3	1 087	1 261	2 102	8 591
AA+DHA	11.1	3 581	1.007	0.719	3 692	6 776
	11.2	3 053	5 116	1 286	3 306	7 040
	12.1	0.856	18 788	5 248	10 701	56 405
ΔΔ	12.1	2 237	29.011	6 776	7 396	34 969
	12.2	1 303	16 155	4.027	6.430	31 214
	12.3	1.373	0.242	0.202	0.430	0.511
<b>ΕΡΔ</b> ⊥ <b>D</b> ΗΔ	13.1	1.840	0.245	0.295	0.857	0.311
LIATUIA	13.2	3.223 2.142	0.317	0.405	0.010	0.914
	13.3	2.142	0.273	0.320	0.372	0.098
ЕДУ	14.1	1.0//	0.427	U.00U 1 407	0.900 1 277	1.603
LIA	14.2	0.738	0.379	1.407	1.2//	1.070
	14.5	0.999	0.300	0.90/	0.948	5.//8
	15.1	0.290	0.255	0.245	0.492	0.636
DHA	15.2	0.534	0.203	1.118	0.343	2.290
	15.3	0.824	0.165	0.616	0.355	1.460
	16.1	0.177	0.163	0.346	0.273	1.660
with ETOH	16.2	0.154	0.211	0.389	0.411	1.812
	16.3	0.207	0.304	0.574	0.458	1.710

 Table 5.1 Concentrations in ng/ml of various eicosanoids released in EBM-2 medium by HUVEC after exposure to different PUFAs

	production of various creasations by the vice						
	$LTB_4$	PGE <sub>2</sub>	6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>	PGE <sub>3</sub>	$\Delta 17$ -6-keto-PGF <sub>1<math>\alpha</math></sub>		
LA	0.0002 † *	0.0022↓*	0.0127 † *	0.0021 ↓ *	0.0001↓*		
AA	0.0000 † *	0.0000 † *	0.0000 † *	0.0000 † *	0.0000 ↑ *		
EPA	0.0003 † *	0.7969↓	0.3454 1	0.1125↓	0.4411↓		
DHA	0.0000 † *	0.0000↓*	0.0002↓*	0.0002↓*	0.0000↓*		
LA*AA	0.5716 †	0.0018↓*	0.6251↓	0.0044 ↓ *	0.0000↓*		
LA*EPA	0.9474 †	0.1743 ↓	0.0105 † *	0.5701 1	0.0131 † *		
LA*DHA	0.0594 †	0.0019 † *	0.0082 † *	0.0259 † *	0.0000 ↑ *		
AA*EPA	0.2245 ↓	0.6711↓	0.9364 1	0.0032↓*	0.2255↓		
AA*DHA	0.0060 † *	0.0000↓*	0.0628↓	0.0016↓*	0.0000↓*		
EPA*DHA	0.3099 †	0.2703 †	0.2407 1	0.0453 † *	0.2755 †		
LA*AA*EPA	0.0628↓	0.1723↓	0.0181 † *	0.4623 1	0.0415 † *		
LA*AA*DHA	0.2514 †	0.0014 † *	0.0003 † *	0.0296 † *	0.0000 ↑ *		
LA*EPA*DHA	0.8730↓	0.3721 ↓	0.2097↓	0.1412↓	0.1496↓		
AA*EPA*DHA	0.8574↓	0.2560 1	0.0036 † *	0.0082 † *	0.1470 †		
LA*AA*EPA*DHA	0.7480↓	0.3568↓	0.1776↓	0.1104↓	0.1073↓		

 Table 5.2 Multifactor ANOVA results with the significant effects (P- values) for the impact of PUFAs on the production of various eicosanoids by HUVEC

'\*' indicates significant effect at confidence level of 95%

\* † ' indicates the mean concentration of corresponding eicosanoid with the addition of fatty acids is higher than that without fatty acids;

'↓' indicates the mean concentration of corresponding eicosanoid with the addition of fatty acids is lower than that without fatty acids

In general, HUVEC are more sensitive than fish cells. Hence, the results revealed more significant effects. LA significantly decreases the production of EPA-derived eicosanoids and PGE<sub>2</sub>, while it increases the production of LTB<sub>4</sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>. This result may indicate that during the incubation period, LA is incorporated into cell membranes releasing some  $\omega$ -6 fatty acids and consequently the production of EPA-derived eicosanoids is reduced and AA-derived eicosanoids enhanced. However, the production of PGE<sub>2</sub> which is one of COX product of AA is decreased indicating that prostacyclin may be the major product of COX in this case.

The effects of AA and EPA have the similar behavior with those in fish cells. DHA remarkably increases the levels of eicosanoids from LOX pathway and significantly reduces the levels of eicosanoids from COX. These observations could indicate that DHA is incorporated into cell membrane during the incubation period by releasing AA which in turn is mainly enrolled in the LOX pathway.

The interactions LA×DHA, EPA×DHA and LA×AA×DHA increase the production of PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>,  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>. It is evident that these interaction terms exhibit a behavior similar to single AA. The terms AA×DHA, LA×AA exhibit a similar behavior to pure DHA, increase the production of LTB<sub>4</sub> and decrease the production of PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>. These similarities for the combined and pure PUFAs could indicate a similar metabolic fate. The interactions LA×EPA and LA×AA×EPA bring about a mainly markedly increased on the production of the two  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6 derived prostacyclins ( $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> respectively).

## **5.3 Conclusions**

It is evident from the results portrayed in the present section that human cells behave differently from salmon cells when exposed to the same set of pure or combined PUFAs. Considering that the analyzed salmon cells (head kidney and liver) exhibited a similar eicosanoid production behavior which was different from human cells, then it is possible to conclude that the metabolic fate of PUFAs is mainly dictated by the type of organism .

# 6. Conclusions and further prospectives

In this thesis, a new SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method was firstly developed to determine simultaneously prostaglandins (PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>), leukotriene (LTB<sub>4</sub>), protacyclins (6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>,  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>) and resolvins (RvD<sub>1</sub> and RvD<sub>2</sub>) released in cL-15 and EBM-2 medium by fish and human cells respectively. The proposed method was optimized systematically and validated. The optimal concentrations of the various internal standards, defined as those where the response factors remain constant in the whole analytical range were determined using a Doehlert design.

The method validation carried out by using the optimal concentrations of internal standards showed that the developed SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method was highly selective, precise, accurate with acceptable LOD (0.1-2 ng/ml) and LOQ (0.1-8 ng/ml).

The validated method was successfully applied to analyze the levels of eicosanoids released into different culture media by fish and human cells exposed to different combination of PUFAs.

It must be said that this work is the first approach to compare the production of eicosanoids released into media by fish and human cells.

The change trend of each eicosanoids in different types of cells are summarized in **Table 6.1**. In general, AA, one of the most studied PUFAs in the current literature due to its implication in various pathological processes, has the tendency to increase the production of PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGE<sub>3</sub>, LTB<sub>4</sub>, 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>,  $\Delta$ 17-6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>, and the addition of EPA markedly increased the production of LTB<sub>4</sub> in both fish and human cells. The behaviour of LA was similar towards the production of prostacyclin in fish cells. However, its behaviour was different when human cells were analyzed, indicating that the type and production of eicosanoids are affected by both the avaiablity of fatty acids and type of cells.

Finally, it must be said that several improvements could be introduced in future research aiming at study the impact of PUFAs on the production of eicosanoids. Firstly, it would be convenient to analyze  $RvD_3$  and  $RvD_4$  (detected in the present work but their identity not confirmed) considering that  $RvD_1$  and  $RvD_2$  were not released into the media by any types of the studied cells. Secondly, the cells could be incubated for a longer period of times since the incorporation and releasing of PUFAs in and from cell membranes is time-dependent. Thirdly, the ratio between different  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6 PUFAs should be explored considering that the incorporation of PUFAs in the cell membrane is dose-dependent.
Table 6.1 Sum	mary c	of the v	variation of d	lifferen	t eicosa	noids gener	ated by	fish liv	ver cell (LC)	, fish h	ead kid	ney cell (HI	KC) and	HUV	Ŋ
		LT	B4		PGE	2	9	-keto-P	$GF_{1\alpha}$		PGE	3	Δ17	-6-ket	$-PGF_{1\alpha}$
	ГC	HKC	HUVEC	ΓC	HKC	HUVEC	ГC	HKC	HUVEC	ΓC	HKC	HUVEC	ГC	HKC	HUVEC
ΓA	→	ı	*	-	1	*	→	*	*	←	+	*	≯	*	*
AA	+	* +	*	<b>*</b>	* +	*	* +	* +	*	* +	<b>→</b>	*	* +	* +	*
EPA	÷	+	* +	+	*	I	+	I	+	+	+	<b>→</b>	+	+	<b>→</b>
DHA	÷	I	* +	I	<b>→</b>	*	I	+	*	I	<b>→</b>	*	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	*
$LA \times AA$	+	<b>→</b>	←	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	*	<b>→</b>	*	<b>→</b>	+	<b>→</b>	*	<b>→</b>	*	*
LA×EPA	<b>→</b>	+	I	+	+	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	+	*	+	+	←	I	+	*
LA×DHA	<b>→</b>	I	←	+	+	*	+	I	*	+	<b>→</b>		+	I	*
AA×EPA	*	+	<b>→</b>	+	* →	I	+	I	+	+	<b>→</b>	*	+	I	<b>→</b>
AA×DHA	+	I	* +	I	I	*	I	+	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	+	* †	<b>→</b>	+	*
EPA×DHA	*	<b>→</b>	←	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	+	I	+	+	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	*	<b>→</b>	+	+
LA×AA×EPA	<b>→</b>	+	<b>→</b>	+		<b>→</b>	I	+	*	+	<b>→</b>	⊷	I	+	*
LA×AA×DHA	<b>→</b>	I	←	+	+	*	I	I	*	I	+	*	+		*
LA×EPA×DHA	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	I	+	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	+	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	+	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	* +	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>
AA×EPA×DHA	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>	I	<b>→</b>		+	+	+	*	<b>→</b>	+	* +	+	+	+
LA×AA×EPA×DHA	* +	<b>→</b>	I	I	I	<b>→</b>	I	I	<b>→</b>	+	+	<b>→</b>	+	<b>→</b>	<b>→</b>
<ul> <li>** indicates significant e</li> <li>* indicates the addition</li> </ul>	ffect at of corre	confide	ence level of 95 ng PUFAS incr	% eases the	e concen	tration of com	espondir	ig eicosa	noid;						
		•					•	5							

`\` indicates the addition of corresponding PUFAS increases the concentration of corresponding eicosanoid `L' indicates the addition of corresponding PUFAs reduces the concentration of corresponding eicosanoid;

'-' indicates P-values in multifactor ANOVA is higher than 0.7 which means there is no obvious changes

## References

Cruz, M. A. M.; Brocca, M. M.; Leyba, C. O.; Montero, J. G.; Cunill, J. L. P.; Luna, P. P. G.
 Olive oil in clinical nutrition. *Grasas y Aceites* 2004, 55, 76-83.

[2] Kinsella, J. E.; Lokesh, B.; Stone, R. A. Dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and amelioration of cardiovascular disease: possible mechanisms. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **1990**, *52*, 1-28.

[3] Lee, Y. H.; Bae, S. C.; Song, G. G. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: a meta-analysis. *Archives of Medical Research* **2012**, *43*, 356-362.

[4] VanDyke, T. E.; Serhan, C. N. Resolution of inflammation: a new paradigm for the pathogenesis of periodontal diseases. *Journal of Dental Research* **2003**, *82*, 82-90.

[5] Tuppo, E. E.; Arias, H. R. The role of inflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* **2005**, *37*, 289-305.

[6] Larsson, S. C.; Kumlin, M.; I., S. M.; Wolk, A. Dietary long-chain n-3 fatty acids for the prevention of cancer: a review of potential mechanisms. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **2004**, *79*, 935-945.

[7] Rose, D. P.; Connolly, J. M. Omega-3 fatty acids as cancer chemopreventive agents. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* **1999**, *83*, 217-244.

[8] Serhan, C. N.; Arita, M.; Hong, S.; Gotlinger, K. Resolvins, docosatrienes and neuroprotectins, novel omega-3-derived mediators and their endogenous aspirin-triggered epimers. *Lipids* **2004**, *39*, 1125-1132.

[9] <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cell\_culture</u> (accessed 6th March 2014).

[10] Maclouf, J.; Baume, H.; Caen, J.; Rabinovitch, H.; Rigaud, M. Complete profiling of some eicosanoids using glass capillary gas chromatography with flame ionization detection: application to biological samples. *Analytical Biochemistry* **1980**, *109*, 147-155.

[11]Marcus, A. J.; Broekman, M. J.; Safier, L. B.; Ullman, H. L.; Islam, N.; Serhan, C. N.; Rutherford, L. E.; Korchak, H. K.; Weissmann, G. Formation of leukotrienes and other hydroxy acids during platelet-neutrophil interactions in vitro. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research*  Communications 1982, 109, 130-137.

[12]Bryant, R. W.; Hwang, D. H. Development of a radioimmunoassay for 15-HETE and its application to 15-HETE production by reticulocytes. *Prostaglandins* **1983**, *26*, 375-386.

[13]Feyen, J. H. M.; Wilt, G.; Moonen, P.; Bon, A. D.; Nijweide, P. J. Stimulation of arachidonic acid metabolism in primary cultures of osteoblast-like cells by hormones and drugs. *Prostaglandins* **1984**, *28*, 769-781.

[14]Elliott, G. R.; Braquet, P.; Batenburg, M.; Bonta, I. Changes in resident rat peritoneal macrophage eicosanoid release, induced by altering the buffer  $K^+$  / Na<sup>+</sup> ratio, are Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1985**, 837, 213-221.

[15]Turner, S. R.; Turner, R. A.; Smith, D. M.; Johnson, J. A. Effects of heavy metal ions on phospholipid metabolism in human neutrophils: relationship to ionophore-mediated cytotoxicity. *Prostaglandins* **1986**, *32*, 919-930.

[16]Saito, H.; Salmon, J. A.; Moncada, S. Influence of cholesterol feeding on the production of eicosanoids, tissue plasminogen activator and superoxide Anion  $(O^{2^-})$  by rabbit blood monocytes. *Atherosclerosis* **1986**, *61*, 141-148.

[17]Robinson, C.; Holgate, S. T. Ionophore-dependent generation of eicosanoids in human dispersed lung cells: modulation by 6,9-deepoxy-6,9-(phenylimino)- $\Delta$ 6,8 prostaglandin I1 [U-60,257]. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **1986**, *35*, 1903-1908.

[18]Giudici, T. A.; Chen, R. G.; Oizumi, J.; Shaw, K., N. F.; Ng, W. G.; Donnell, G. N. Methylmalonic and propionic acidemias: lipid profiles of normal and affected human skin fibroblasts incubated with [1-<sup>14</sup>C]propionate. *Biochemical Medicine and Metabolic Biology* **1986**, *35*, 384-398.

[19]Hadjiagapiou, C.; Spector, A. A. 12-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid reduces prostacyclin production by endothelial cells. *Prostaglandins* **1986**, *31*, 1135-1144.

[20] Henke, S.; Danilowicz, R.; Eling, T. E. Arachidonic acid metabolism by isolated epidermal basal and differentiated keratinocytes from the hairless mouse. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* 1986, 876, 271-279.

[21]Griswold, D. E.; Marshall, P. J.; Webb, E. F.; Godfrey, R.; Newton, J.; Dimartino, M. J.; Sarau, H. M.; Gleason, J. G.; Poste, G.; Hanna, N. SK&F 86002: A structurally novel anti-inflammatory agent that inhibits lipoxygenase- and cyclooxygenase-mediated metabolism of arachidonic acid. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **1987**, *36*, 3463-3470.

[22]Satoh, K.; Prescott, S. M. Culture of mesothelial cells from bovine pericardium and characterization of their arachidonate metabolism. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research* **1987**, *930*, 283-296.

[23]Tran-Thi, T. A.; Gyufko, K.; Henninger, H.; Busse, R.; Decker, K. Studies on synthesis and degradation of eicosanoids by rat hepatocytes in primary culture. *Journal of Hepatology* **1987**, *5*, 322-331.

[24]Brown, M. L.; Jakubowski, J. A.; Leventis, L. L.; Deykin, D. Ionophore-induced metabolism of phospholipids and eicosanoid production in porcine aortic endothelial cells: selective release of arachidonic acid from diacyl and ether phospholipids. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)* - *Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1987**, *921*, 159-166.

[25]Green, F. A.; Herman, C. A.; Herman, R. P.; Claesson, H.; Hamberg, M. Leukotrienes and related eicosanoids are produced by frog leukocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **1987**, *142*, 309-314.

[26] Taylor, G. W.; Watson, D. Biomedical applications of thermospray liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography* **1987**, *394*, 135-146.

[27]Chock, S. P.; Schmauder-Chock, S. A. Synthesis of prostaglandins and eicosanoids by the mast cell secretory granule. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **1988**, *156*, 1308-1315.

[28]Hartung, H. P.; Heininger, K.; Toyka, K. V. Primary rat astroglial cultures can generate leukotriene B<sub>4</sub>. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* **1988**, *19*, 237-243.

[29]Chang, J.; Borgeat, P.; Schleimer, R. P.; Musser, J. H.; Marshall, L. A.; Hand, J. M. Wy-48,252 (1,1,1-trifluoro-N-[3-(2-quinolinylmethoxy)phenyl]methane sulfonamide), an orally active leukotriene antagonist: effects on arachidonic acid metabolism in various inflammatory cells. *European Journal of Pharmacology* **1988**, *148*, 131-141.

[30]Rieder, H.; Ramadori, G.; Buschenfelde, K. H. M. Guinea pig Kupffer cells can be activated in vitro to an enhanced superoxide response: II. involvement of eicosanoids. *Journal of Hepatology* **1988**, 7, 345-351.

[31]Eyhorn, S.; Schlayer, H. J.; Henninger, H. P.; Dieter, P.; Hermann, R.; Woort-Menker, M.; Becker, H.; Schaefer, H. E.; Decker, K. Rat hepatic sinusolidal endothelial cells in monolayer culture *Journal of Hepatology* **1988**, *6*, 23-35.

[32]Fradin, A.; Rothhut, B.; Poincelot-Canton, B.; Errasfa, M.; Russo-Marie, F. Inhibition of eicosanoid and PAF formation by dexamethasone in rat inflammatory polymorphonuclear neutrophils may implicate lipocortin 's'. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1988**, *963*, 248-257.

[33] Wiederhold, M. D.; Anderson, K. M.; Harris, J. E. Labelling of lipids and phospholipids with [<sup>3</sup>H]arachidonic acid and the biosynthesis of eicosanoids in U937 cells differentiated by phorbol ester. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1988**, *959*, 296-304.

[34]Kuiper, J.; Zijlstra, F. J.; Kamps, J. A. A. M.; Berkel, T. J. C. Identification of prostaglandin D<sub>2</sub> as the major eicosanoid from liver endothelial and Kupffer cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*) - *Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1988**, *959*, 143-152.

[35]Ouwendijk, R. J. T.; Zijlstra, F. J.; Broe, A. M. W. C.; Brower, A.; Wilson, J. H. P.; Vincent, J. E. Comparison of the production of eicosanoids by human and rat peritoneal macrophages and rat Kupffer cells. *Prostaglandins* **1988**, *35*, 437-446.

[36]Griesmacher, A.; Weigel, G.; Schreiner, W.; Muller, M. M. Thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> generation by human umbilical endothelial cells. *Thrombosis Research* **1989**, *56*, 611-623.

[37]Fisher, G. J.; Talwar, H. S.; Ryder, N. S.; Voorhees, J. Differential activation of human skin cells by platelet activating factor: Stimulation of phosphoinositide turnover and arachidonic acid mobilization in keratinocytes but not in fibroblasts. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **1989**, *163*, 1344-1350.

[38]Doukas, J.; Hechtman, H. B.; Shepro, D. Vasoactive amines and eicosanoids interactively regulate both polymorphonuclear leukocyte diapedesis and albumin permeability in vitro. *Microvascular Research* **1989**, *37*, 125-137.

[39]Pel é, J. P.; Robidoux, C.; Sirois, P. Secretion of thromboxane  $B_2$  and prostaglandin  $E_2$  by guinea-pig lung cells isolated by centrifugal elutriation and by macrophages obtained by bronchoalveolar lavage. *Pulmonary Pharmacology* **1989**, *2*, 137-145.

[40]Kawada, N.; Mizoguchi, Y.; Shin, T.; Tsutsui, H.; Kobayashi, K.; Morisawar, S.; Monna, T.; Yamamoto, S. Synthesis of eicosanoids by propionibacterium acnes-elicited liver adherent cells and their effect on production of interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1990**, *41*, 187-193.

[41] Lehman, P. A.; Henderson, W. R. Retinoid-induced inhibition of bosinophil LTC<sub>4</sub>

production. Prostaglandins 1990, 39, 569-577.

[42] Maghni, K.; Robidoux, C.; Laporte, J.; Hall ée, A.; Sirois, P. Release of prostaglandins and thromboxanes by guinea pig isolated type II pneumocytes. *Prostaglandins* **1990**, *40*, 217-227.

[43] Johnston, D. E.; Peterson, M. B.; Milon, F.; Berninger, R. W.; Jefferson, D. M. Synthesis and degradation of eicosanoids in primary rat hepatocyte cultures. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1991**, *43*, 119-132.

[44]Nakamura, T.; Fonteh, A. N.; Hubbard, W. C.; Triggiani, M.; Inagaki, N.; Ishizaka, T.; Chilton, F. H. Arachidonic acid metabolism during antigen and ionophore activation of the mouse bone marrow derived mast cell. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1991**, *1085*, 191-200.

[45]Buckman, D. K.; Hubbard, N. E.; Erickson, K. L. Eicosanoids and linoleate-enhanced growth of mouse mammary tumor cells. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1991**, *44*, 177-184.

[46]Datta, H. K.; Sullivan, M.; Rathod, H.; MacIntyre, L. Transforming growth factor-β modulates eicosanoid metabolism in osteogenic osteosarcoma cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **1991**, 876, 940-945.

[47]Dray, F.; Normand, B. V.; Deroussent, A.; Briquet, I.; Gabellec, M. M.; Nakamura, S.; Wahl, L. M.; Gouyette, A.; Salahuddin, Z. S. Active metabolism of arachidonic acid by Kaposi sarcoma cells cultured from lung biopsies (KS-3); identification by HPLC and MS/MS of the predominant metabolite secreted as the 11,12-epoxy-eicosatrienoic acid. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease* **1992**, *1180*, 83-90.

[48]Lety, M. A.; Coulaud, J.; Bens, M.; Dardenne, M.; Delarche, F. H. Enhanced metabolism of arachidonic acid by macrophages from nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. *Clinical Immunology and Immunopathology* **1992**, *64*, 188-196.

[49]Martin, L. D.; Barnes, S. D.; Wetzel, R. C. Acute hypoxia alters eicosanoid production of perfused pulmonary artery endothelial cells in culture. *Prostaglandins* **1992**, *43*, 371-382.

[50] Hampson, A. J.; Rowley, A. F.; Barrow, S. E.; Steadman, R. Biosynthesis of eicosanoids by blood cells of the crab, Carcinus maenas. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1992**, *1124*, 143-150.

[51] Vaillier, D.; Daculsi, R.; Gualde, N.; Bezian, J. Effect of LTB<sub>4</sub> on the inhibition of natural

cytotoxic activity by PGE<sub>2</sub>. Cellular Immunology 1992, 139, 248-258.

[52]Lee, P. P. H.; Lp, M. M. Regulation of proliferation of rat mammary tumor cells by inhibitors of cyclooxygenase and lipoxygenase. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1992**, *45*, 21-31.

[53] Juergens, U. R.; Christiansen, S. C.; Stevenson, D. D.; Zuraw, B. L. Arachidonic acid metabolism in monocytes of aspirin-sensitive asthmatic patients before and after oral aspirin challenge. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **1992**, *90*, 636-645.

[54]Sheppard, K.; Greenberg, S. M.; Funk, C. D.; Romano, M.; Serhan, C. N. Lipoxin generation by human megakaryocyte-induced 12-lipoxygenase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Cell Research* 1992, *1133*, 223-234.

[55]Kort, W. J.; Bijma, A. M.; Dam, J. J.; Ham, A. C.; Hekking, J. M.; Ingh, H. F.; Meijer, W. S.; Wilgenburg, M. G. M.; Zijlstra, F. J. Eicosanoids in breast cancer patients before and after mastectomy. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1992**, *45*, 319-327.

[56]Sola, J.; Godessart, N.; Vila, L.; Puig, L.; Moragas, J. M. Epidermal Cell-polymorphonuclear leukocyte cooperation in the formation of leukotriene  $B_4$  by transcellular biosynthesis. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology* **1992**, *98*, 333-339.

[57]Eskew, M. L.; Zarkower, A.; Scheuchenzuber, W. J.; Hildenbrandt, G. R.; Scholz, R. W.; Reddy, C. C. Increased thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> synthesis by rat lung neutrophils during selenium deficiency. *Prostaglandins* **1993**, *46*, 319-329.

[58]Kuhn, D. C.; Griffith, J. W.; Stauffer, J. L.; Riling, S.; Demers, L. M. Characterization of alveolar macrophage eicosanoid production in a non-human primate model of mineral dust exposure. *Prostaglandins* **1993**, *46*, 207-220.

[59]Evans, C. B.; Pillai, S.; Goldyne, M. E. Endogenous prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> modulates calcium-induced differentiation in human skin keratinocytes. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1993**, *49*, 777-781.

[60] Malle, E.; Leis, H. J.; Steinmetz, A.; Paschke, E.; Hoefler, G. Cyclooxygenase pathway in dermal fibroblasts from patients with metabolic disorders of peroxisomal origin. *Clinica Chimica Acta* **1993**, *217*, 205-212.

[61]Sjolander, A.; Schippert, A.; Hammarstrom, S. A human epithelial cell line, intestine 407, can produce 5-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid and leukotriene B<sub>4</sub>. *Prostaglandins* **1993**, *45*, 85-96.

[62]Lopez, S.; Vila, L.; Breviario, F.; Castellarnau, C. Interleukin-1 increases 15-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid formation in cultured human endothelial cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1993**, *1170*, 17-24.

[63]Xu, L.; Malaviya, R.; Olsen, K. M.; Jakschik, B. A. Effect of culture conditions on mast cell eicosanoid synthesis. *Prostaglandins* **1993**, *45*, 385-398.

[64]Croft, K. D.; Beilin, L. J. Platelet and neutrophil function and eicosanoid release in a subject with abetalipoproteinaemia. *Thrombosis Research* **1993**, *69*, 333-342.

[65]Safayhi, H.; Koopmann, I.; Ammon, H. P. T. Insulin secretion without the participation of arachidonic acid. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology* **1993**, *91*, 143-148.

[66]Mckinnon, K. P.; Madden, M. C.; Noah, T. L.; Devlin, R. B. In vitro ozone exposure increases release of arachidonic acid products from a human bronchial epithelial cell line. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **1993**, *118*, 215-223.

[67]Pich, I.; Lopez, S.; Vila, L.; Lagunas, C.; Castellarnau, C. Influence of fatty acid anilides present in toxic oils on the metabolism of exogenous arachidonic acid in cultured human endothelial cells. *Toxicology* **1993**, *77*, 51-63.

[68] Pruimboom, W. M.; Dijk, A. P. M.; Tak, C. J. A. M.; Bonta, I. L.; Wilson, J. H. P.; Zijlstra,
F. J. Production of inflammatory mediators by human macrophages obtained from ascites. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* 1994, *50*, 183-192.

[69] Pruimboom, W. M.; Dijk, J. A. P. M.; Tak, C. A. M.; Garrelds, I.; Bonta, I. L.; Wilson, P. J.
H.; Zijlstra, F. J. Interactions between cytokines and eicosanoids: a study using human peritoneal macrophages. *Immunology Letters* 1994, *41*, 255-260.

[70]Sellmayer, A.; Goebl, C.; H., O.; Volk, R.; Reder, E.; Weber, C.; Weber, P. C. Differential induction of eicosanoid synthesis in monocytic cells treated with retinoic acid and 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D<sub>3</sub>. *Prostaglandins* **1994**, *47*, 203-220.

[71]Slama, H.; Vaillancourt, D.; Goff, A. K. Effect of bacterial cell wall and lipopolysaccharide on arachidonic acid metabolism by caruncular and allantochorionic tissues from cows that calved normally and those that retained fetal membranes. *Theriogenology* **1994**, *41*, 923-942.

[72]Rotondo, D.; Earl, C. R. A.; Laing, K. J.; Kaimakamis, D. Inhibition of cytokine-stimulated thymic lymphocyte proliferation by fatty acids: the role of eicosanoids. *Biochemica et Biophysica Acta* **1994**, *1223*, 185-194.

[73]Shapiro, A. C.; Wu, D.; Hayek, M. G.; Meydani, M.; Meydani, S. N. Role of eicosanoids and vitamin E in fish oilinduced changes of splenocyte proliferation to T cell mitogens in mice. *Nutrition Research* **1994**, *14*, 1339-1354.

[74]Coffey, M. J.; Wilcoxen, S. E.; Phare, S. M.; Gyetko, M. R.; Peters-Golden, M.; Simpson, R.
U. Reduced 5-lipoxygenase metabolism of arachidonic acid in macrophages rrom 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3-deficient rats. *Prostaglandins* 1994, 48, 313-329.

[75]Goe A, C.; Obermeier, H.; Volk, R.; Reder, E.; Weber, C.; Weber, P. C.; Sellmayer, A. Differential induction of eicosanoid synthesis in monocytic cells treated with retinoic acid and 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin. *Prostaglandins* **1994**, *47*, 203-220.

[76]Lloyd-Evans, P.; Barrow, S. E.; Hill, D. J.; Bowden, L. A.; Rainger, G. E.; Knight, J.; Rowley, A. F. Eicosanoid generation and effects on the aggregation of thrombocytes from the rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1994**, *1215*, 291-299.

[77]Balsinde, J.; Fernandez, B.; Solis-Herruzo, J. Ethanol inhibits zymosan-stimulated eicosanoid production in mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1994**, *1210*, 195-201.

[78]Tran-Thi, T. A.; Holstegem, A.; Decker, K. Effects of hypoxia on the oxygen-dependent metabolism of prostaglandins and adenosine in liver cells. *Journal of Hepatology* **1994**, *20*, 570-579.

[79] Vries, H. E.; Hoogendoorn, K. H.; Dijk, J.; Zijlstra, F. J.; Dam, A.; Berkel, T. J. C.; Boer, A.G.; Kuiper, J. Eicosanoid production by rat cerebral endothelial cells: stimulation by lipopolysaccharide, interleukin-1 and interleukin-6. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* 1995, 59, 1-8.

[80]Gallai, V.; Sarchielli, P.; Trequattrini, A.; Franceschini, M.; Floridi, A.; Firenze, C.; Alberti, P.; Benedetto, D. D.; Stragliotto, E. Cytokine secretion and eicosanoid production in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of MS patients undergoing dietary supplementation with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* **1995**, *56*, 143-153.

[81]Matsuo, M.; Hamasaki, Y.; Fujiyama, F.; Miyazaki, S. Eicosanoids are produced by microglia, not by astrocytes, in rat glial cell cultures. *Brain Research* **1995**, *226*, 241-251.

[82]Yu, W. G.; Powell, W. S. Analysis of leukotrienes, lipoxins, and monooxygenated metabolites of arachidonic acid by reversed-phase high-pressure liquid chromatography. *Analytical Biochemistry* **1995**, *226*, 241-251.

[83]Setty, B. N. Y.; Chen, D.; Stuart, M. Sickle red blood cells stimulate endothelial cell production of eicosanoids and diacylglycerol. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* **1996**, *128*, 313-321.

[84]Tocher, D. R.; Bell, J. G.; Sargent, J. R. Production of eicosanoids derived from 20:4n-6 and 20:5n-3 in primary cultures of turbot (Scophthalmus maximus) brain astrocytes in response to platelet activating factor, substance P and interleukin-lβ. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* **1996**, *115*, 215-222.

[85]Samet, J. M.; Fonten, A. N.; Galli, S. J.; Tsai, M.; Fasano, M. B.; Chilton, F. H. Alterations in arachidonic acid metabolism in mouse mast cells induced to undergo maturation in vitro in response to stem cellfactor. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **1996**, *97*, 1329-1341.

[86]Coffey, M. J.; Wheeler, C. S.; Gross, K. B.; Eschenbacher, W. L.; Sporn, P. H. S.; Golden,M. P. Increased 5-lipoxygenase metabolism in the lungs of human subjects exposed to ozone.*Toxicology* 1996, *114*, 187-197.

[87]Bowden, L. A.; Restall, C. J.; Rowley, A. F. The influence of environmental temperature on membrane fluidity, fatty acid composition and lipoxygenase product generation in head kidney leucocytes of the rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* **1996**, *115*, 375-382.

[88]Rosolowsky, M.; Campbell, W. B. Synthesis of hydroxyeicosatetraenoic (HETEs) and epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs) by cultured bovine coronary artery endothelial cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1996**, *1299*, 267-277.

[89] Weigel, G.; Griesmacher, A.; Toma, C. D.; Baecker, C.; Heinzl, H.; Mueller, M. M. Endothelial eicosanoid metabolism and signal transduction during exposure to oxygen radicals injury. *Thrombosis Research* **1997**, *87*, 363-375.

[90]Nithipatikom, K.; Falck, J. R.; Bhatt, R. K.; Hanke, C. J.; Campbell, W. B. Determination of 14,15-epoxyeicosatrienoic acid and 14,15-dihydroxyeicosatrienoic acid by fluoroimmunoassay. *Analytical Biochemistry* **1997**, *246*, 253-259.

[91]Herman, C.; Wang, X.; Gronert, K. Biosynthesis of thromboxane by snake (Elaphe obsoleta) erythrocytes and the requirement of eicosanoid production for blood clotting. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects* **1997**, *1334*, 23-27.

[92]Zou, M.; Anges, C. Cell-cell interaction between platelets and IL-1\beta-stimulated vascular

smooth muscle cells in synthesis of thromboxane A<sub>2</sub>. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1997**, *56*, 85-91.

[93]Battu, S.; Clement, G.; Heyman, M.; Wal, J. M.; Cook-Moreau, J.; Desjeux, J. F.; Beneytout, J. L. Production of arachidonic acid metabolites by the colon adenocarcinoma cell line HT29 cl.19A and their effect on chloride secretion. *Cancer Letters* **1997**, *116*, 213-223.

[94]Ghioni, C.; Bell, J. G.; Bell, M. V.; Sargent, J., R. Fatty acid composition, eicosanoid production and permeability in skin tissues of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) fed a control or an essential fatty acid deficient diet. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1997**, *56*, 479-489.

[95]Farsky, S. H. P.; Walber, J.; Costa-Cruz, M.; Curry, Y.; Teixeira, C. F. P. Leukocyte response induced by Bothrops jararaca crude venom: In vivo and in vitro studies. *Toxicon : Official Journal of the International Society on Toxinology* **1997**, *35*, 185-193.

[96]Fritsche, K.; Mcguire, S. The use of dietary synthetic antioxidants at recommended levels does not alter rat immune cell eicosanoid production or hepatic vitamin E concentration. *Nutrition Research* **1997**, *17*, 1311-1319.

[97]Puga, A.; Hoffer, A.; Zhou, S.; Bohm, J. M.; Leikauf, G. D.; Shertzer, H. G. Sustained increase in intracellular free calcium and activation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression in mouse hepatoma cells treated with dioxin. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **1997**, *54*, 1287-1296.

[98] Wohlfeil, E. R.; Campbell, W. B. 25-Hydroxycholesterol enhances eicosanoid production in cultured bovine coronary artery endothelial cells by increasing prostaglandin G/H synthase-2. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Lipids and Lipid Metabolism* **1997**, *1345*, 109-120.

[99]Larsen, L. N.; Bremer, J.; Flock, S.; Skattebøl, L. α- and β- alkyl-substituted eicosapentaenoic acids: incorporation into phospholipids and effets on prostaglandin H synthase and 5-lipoxygenase. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **1998**, *55*, 405-411.

[100] Groot, C. J. M.; Murai, J. T.; Vigne, J. T.; Taylor, R. N. Eicosanoid secretion by human endothelial cells exposed to normal pregnancy and preeclampsia plasma in vitro. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **1998**, *58*, 91-97.

[101] Meng, C. L.; Yang, C. Y.; Shen, K. L.; Wong, P. Y. K.; Lee, H. K. Inhibition of the synthesis of eicosanoid-like substances in a human oral cancer cell line by interferon- $\gamma$  and eicosapentaenoic acid. *Archives of Oral Biology* **1998**, *43*, 979-986.

[102] Chavis, C.; Vachier, I.; Bousquet, J.; Godard, P.; Chanez, P. Generation of eicosanoids from 15(S)-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid in blood monocytes from steroid-dependent asthmatic patients. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **1998**, *56*, 535-541.

[103] Berger, M.; Schwarz, K.; Thiele, H.; Reimann, I.; Huth, A.; Borngraber, S.; Kuhn, H.;
 Thiele, B. Simultaneous expression of leukocyte-type 12-lipoxygenase and reticulocyte-type
 15-lipoxygenase in rabbits. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 1998, 278, 935-948.

[104] Hall, L. M.; Murphy, R. C. Electrospray mass spectrometric analysis of 5-hydroperxy and 5-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids generated by lipid peroxidation of red blood cell ghost phospholipids. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **1998**, *9*, 527-532.

[105] Hill, E. M.; Eling, T. E.; Nettesheim, P. Differentiation dependency of eicosanoid enzyme expression in human tracheobronchial cells. *Toxicology Letters* **1998**, *96*, 239-244.

[106] Aksoy, M. O.; Li, X. X.; Borenstein, M.; Yi, Y.; Kelsen, S. G. Effects of topical corticosteroids on inflammatory mediator–induced eicosanoid release by human airway epithelial cells. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **1999**, *103*, 1081-1091.

[107] Pierro, E.; Cirino, G.; Bucci, M. R.; Lazzarin, N.; Andreani, C. L.; mancuso, S.; Lanzone, A.; Navarra, P. Antiphospholipid antibodies inhibit prostaglandin release by decidual cells of early pregnancy: possible involvement of extracellular secretory phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>. *Fertility and Sterility* **1999**, *71*, 342-346.

[108] Holland, J. W.; Taylor, G. W.; Rowley, A. F. The eicosanoid generating capacity of isolated cell populations from the gills of the rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Pharmacology, Toxicology and Endocrinology* **1999**, *122*, 297-306.

[109] Kearns, R. J.; Hayek, M. G.; Turek, J. J.; Meydani, M.; Burr, J. R.; Greene, R. J.; Marshall, C. A.; Adams, S. M.; Borgert, R. C.; Reinhart, G. A. Effect of age, breed and dietary omega-6 (n-6) : omega-3 (n-3) fatty acid ratio on immune function, eicosanoid production, and lipid peroxidation in young and aged dogs. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* **1999**, *1999*, 165-183.

[110] Kikuta, Y.; Kusunose, E.; Ito, M.; Kusunose, M. Purification and characterization of recombinant rat hepatic CYP4F1. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **1999**, *369*, 193-196.

[111] Hill, D. J.; Griffiths, D. H.; Rowley, A. F. Trout thrombocytes contain 12- but not

5-lipoxygenase activity. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids 1999, 1437, 63-70.

[112] Camacho, M.; Vila, L. Transcellular formation of thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> in mixed incubations of endothelial cells and aspirin-treated platelets strongly depends on the prostaglandin I-synthase activity. *Thrombosis Research* **2000**, *99*, 155-164.

[113] Moreno, J. J. Arachidonic acid release and prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> synthesis as irritant index of surfactants in 3T6 fibroblast cultures. *Toxicology* **2000**, *143*, 275-282.

[114] Grossmann, E. M.; Longo, W. E.; Mazaski, J. E.; Panesar, N.; Kaminski, D. L. Role of cytosolic phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> in cytokine-stimulated prostaglandin released by human gallbladder cells. *Journal of Gastromtestanal Surgery* **2000**, *4*, 193-200.

[115] Deva, R.; Ciccoli, R.; Schewe, T.; Kock, J. L. F.; Nigam, S. Arachidonic acid stimulates cell growth and forms a novel oxygenated metabolite in Candida albicans. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids* **2000**, *1486*, 299-311.

[116] Pasqualini, M. E.; Mohn, C. E.; Petiti, J. P.; Manzo, P.; Eynard, A. R. COX and LOX eicosanoids modulate platelet activation and procoagulation induced by two murine cancer cells. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Essential Fatty Acids* **2000**, *63*, 377-383.

[117] Titos, E.; Clària, J.; Bataller, R.; Bosch–Marc é, M.; Ginès, P.; Jiménez, W.; Arroyo, V.; Rivera, F.; Rodés, J. Hepatocyte-derived cysteinyl leukotrienes modulate vascular tone in experimental cirrhosis. *Gastroenterology* **2000**, *119*, 794-805.

[118] Cao, Y. Z.; Reddy, C. C.; Sordillo, L. M. Altered eicosanoid biosynthesis in selenium-deficient endothelial cells. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2000**, *28*, 381-389.

[119] Szupera, Z.; Mezei, Z.; Kis, B.; Gecse, A.; Vecsei, L.; Telegdy, G. The effects of valproate on the arachidonic acid metabolism of rat brain microvessels and of platelets. *European Journal of Pharmacology* **2000**, *387*, 205-210.

[120] Saiga, A.; Morioka, Y.; Ono, T.; Nakano, K.; Ishimoto, Y.; Arita, H.; Hanasaki, K. Group X secretory phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> induces potent productions of various lipid mediators in mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Biochemica et Biophysica Acta* **2001**, *1530*, 67-76.

[121] Vachier, I.; Chavis, C.; Majori, M.; Farce, M.; Bousquet, J.; Godard, P.; Chanez, P. Effects of glucocorticoids on endogenous and transcellular metabolism of eicosanoids in asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **2001**, *107*, 824-831. [122] Nithipatikom, K.; Grall, A. J.; Holmes, B. B.; Harder, D. R.; Falck, J. R.; Campbell, W.
B. Liquid chromatographic-electrospray ionization-mass spectrometric analysis of cytochrome P450 metabolites of arachidonic acid. *Analytical Biochemistry* 2001, 298, 327-336.

[123] Kempen, E. C.; Yang, P.; Felix, E.; Madden, T.; Newman, R. A. Simultaneous quantification of arachidonic acid metabolites in cultured tumor cells using high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2001**, *297*, 183-190.

[124] Garcia, L. E.; Rotllan, J. C.; Parellada, P. P. Effects of oxidative stress and antioxidant treatments on eicosanoid synthesis and lipid peroxidation in long term human umbilical vein endothelial cells culture. *Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators* **2002**, *67*, 13-25.

[125] Ribardo, D. A.; Kuhl, K. R.; Peterson, J. W.; Chopra, A. K. Role of melittin-like region within phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>-activating protein in biological function. *Toxicon :Official Journal of the International Society on Toxinology* **2002**, *40*, 519-526.

[126] Tsukamoto, H.; Hishinuma, T.; Mikkaichi, T.; Nakamura, H.; Yamazaki, T.; Tomioka, Y.; Mizugaki, M. Simultaneous quantification of prostaglandins, isoprostane and thromboxane in cell-cultured medium using gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography B* 2002, 774, 205-214.

[127] Werner, K.; Schaefer, W. R.; Schweer, H.; Deppert, W. R.; Karck, U.; Zahradnik, H. P. Characterization and identification of cytochrome P450 metabolites of arachidonic acid released by human peritoneal macrophages obtained from the pouch of Douglas. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **2002**, *67*, 397-404.

[128] Albert, D.; Zundorf, I.; Dingermann, T.; Muller, W. E.; Steinhilber, D.; Werz, O.
Hyperforin is a dual inhibitor of cyclooxygenase-1 and 5-lipoxygenase. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 2002, *64*, 1767-1775.

[129] Urquhart, P.; Parkin, S. M.; Rogers, J. S.; Bosley, J.; Nicolaou, A. The effect of conjugated linoleic acid on arachidonic acid metabolism and eicosanoid production in human saphenous vein endothelial cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids* **2002**, *1580*, 150-160.

[130] Cox, B.; Murphey, L. J.; Zackert, W. E.; Chinery, R. J.; Morrow, J. D. Human colorectal cancer cells efficiently conjugate the cyclopentenone prostaglandin, prostaglandin J<sub>2</sub>, to

glutathione. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids* **2002**, *1584*, 37-45.

[131] Yang, P.; Felix, E.; Madden, T.; Fischer, S. M.; Newman, R. A. Quantitative high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometric analysis of 2- and 3-series prostaglandins in cultured tumor cells. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2002**, *308*, 168-177.

[132] Takabatake, M.; Hishinuma, T.; Suzuki, N.; Chiba, S.; Tsukamoto, H.; Nakamura, H.; Saga, T.; Tomioka, Y.; Kurose, A.; Sawai, T.; Mizugaki, M. Simultaneous quantification of prostaglandins in human synovial cell-cultured medium using liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **2002**, *67*, 51-56.

[133] Cheng, Z.; Elmes, M.; Abayasekara, D. R. E.; Wathes, D. C. Effects of conjugated linoleic acid on prostaglandins produced by cells isolated from maternal intercotyledonary endometrium, fetal allantochorion and amnion in late pregnant ewes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*) - *Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids* **2003**, *1633*, 170-178.

[134] Meliton, A. Y.; Muñoz, N. M.; Liu, J.; Lambertino, A. T.; Boetticher, E.; Myo, S.; Myou, S.; Zhu, X.; Johnson, M.; Leff, A. R. Blockade of LTC<sub>4</sub> synthesis caused by additive inhibition of gIV-PLA<sub>2</sub> phosphorylation: effect of salmeterol and PDE<sub>4</sub> inhibition in human eosinophils. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **2003**, *112*, 404-410.

 [135] Schwartzman, M. L.; Bonazzi, A.; Mieyal, P.; Mezentsev, A.; Abraham, N. G.; Dunn,
 M. W. COX-2 lack of function in hypoxia-induced ocular surface inflammation. *Thrombosis Research* 2003, *110*, 293-298.

[136] Melo, R. C. N.; D'Ávila, H.; Fabrino, D. L.; Almeida, P. E.; Bozza, P. T. Macrophage lipid body induction by Chagas disease in vivo: putative intracellular domains for eicosanoid formation during infection. *Tissue and Cell* **2003**, *35*, 59-67.

[137] Nixon, J. B.; Kamitani, H.; Baek, S. J.; Eling, T. E. Evaluation of eicosanoids and NSAIDs as PPARγ ligands in colorectal carcinoma cells. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **2003**, *68*, 323-330.

[138] Nithipatikom, K.; Laabs, N. D.; Isbell, M. A.; Campbell, W. B. Liquid chromatographic–mass spectrometric determination of cyclooxygenase metabolites of arachidonic acid in cultured cells. *Journal of Chromatography B* **2003**, 785, 135-145.

[139] Nie, D.; Che, M.; Zacharek, A.; Qiao, Y.; Li, L.; Li, X.; Lamberti, M.; Tang, K.; Cai, Y.; Guo, Y. Differential expression of thromboxane synthase in prostate carcinoma. *The American Journal of Pathology* **2004**, *164*, 429-439.

[140] Tsai, C. Y.; Yu, C. L.; Wu, T. H.; Hsieh, S. C.; Tsai, Y. Y. Proinflammatory cytokines enhance COX-1 gene expression in cultured rat glomerular mesangial cells. *International Immunophamacology* **2004**, *4*, 47-56.

[141] Prieto, J. M.; Giner, R. M.; Recio, M. C.; Manez, S.; Rios, J. L. Dual inhibition of cyclooxygenase-1 and 5-lipoxygenase by aerial part of Bupleurum fruticescens methanol extract. *Fitoterapia* **2004**, *75*, 179-186.

[142] Rademacher, D. J.; Kearn, C. S.; Carrier, E. J.; Patel, S.; Delgado, M. A.; Barkmeier, A.; Klick, D. E.; Breese, N. M.; Pfister, S. L.; Nithipatikom, K.; Campbell, W. B.; Hillard, C. J. Production of hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids and prostaglandins by a novel rat microglial cell line. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* **2004**, *149*, 130-141.

[143] Lopez-Lluch, G.; Fernandez-Ayala, D. J.; Alcain, F. J.; Buron, M. I.; Quesada, J. M.; Navas, P. Inhibition of COX activity by NSAIDs or ascorbate increases cAMP levels and enhances differentiation in 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>-induced HL-60 cells. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **2005**, *436*, 32-39.

[144] Zuliani, J. P.; Fernandes, C. M.; Zamuner, S. R.; Gutierrez, J. M.; Teixeira, C. F. Inflammatory events induced by Lys-49 and Asp-49 phospholipases A<sub>2</sub> isolated from Bothrops asper snake venom: role of catalytic activity. *Toxicon : Official Journal of the International Society on Toxinology* **2005**, *45*, 335-346.

[145] Lopez-Parra, M.; Claria, J.; Titos, E.; Planaguma, A.; Parrizas, M.; Masferrer, J. L.; Jimenez, W.; Arroyo, V.; Rivera, F.; Rodes, J. The selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib modulates the formation of vasoconstrictor eicosanoids and activates PPARγ, influence of albumin. *Journal of Hepatology* **2005**, *42*, 75-81.

[146] Pestel, S.; Jungermann, K.; Schieferdecker, H. L. Re-evaluation of thin layer chromatography as an alternative method for the quantification of prostaglandins from rat Kupffer cells. *Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators* **2005**, *75*, 123-139.

[147] White, D. C.; Geyer, R.; Cantu, J.; Jo, S. C.; Peacock, A. D.; Saxton, A. M.; Mani, S.; Jett, M.; Moss, O. R. Feasibility of assessment of regulatory lipids in breath condensate as potential

presymptomatic harbingers of pulmonary pathobiology. *Journal of Microiological Methods* **2005**, *62*, 293-302.

[148] Du, L.; Yermalitsky, V.; Ladd, P. A.; Capdevila, J. H.; Mernaugh, R.; Keeney, D. S. Evidence that cytochrome P450 CYP2B19 is the major source of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids in mouse skin. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **2005**, *435*, 125-133.

[149] Chaitidis, P.; O'Donnell, V.; Kuban, R. J.; Bermudez-Fajardo, A.; Ungethuem, U.; Kuhn, H. Gene expression alterations of human peripheral blood monocytes induced by medium-term treatment with the TH2-cytokines interleukin-4 and -13. *Cytokine* **2005**, *30*, 366-377.

[150] Barbosa-Sicard, E.; Markovic, M.; Honeck, H.; Christ, B.; Muller, D. N.; Schunck, W.
H. Eicosapentaenoic acid metabolism by cytochrome P450 enzymes of the CYP2C subfamily. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2005, *329*, 1275-1281.

[151] Pasqualini, M. E.; Berra, M. A.; Calderon, R. O.; Cremonezzi, D. C.; Giraudo, C.; Eynard, A. R. Dietary lipids modulate eicosanoid release and apoptosis of cells of a murine lung alveolar carcinoma. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Essential Fatty Acids* **2005**, *72*, 235-240.

[152] Kingsley, P. J.; Rouzer, C. A.; Saleh, S.; Marnett, L. J. Simultaneous analysis of prostaglandin glyceryl esters and prostaglandins by electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2005**, *343*, 203-211.

[153] Kita, Y.; Takahashi, T.; Uozumi, N.; Shimizu, T. A multiplex quantitation method for eicosanoids and platelet-activating factor using column-switching reversed-phase liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2005**, *342*, 134-143.

[154] Panchaud, A.; Avois, L.; Roulet, M.; Pilet, M.; Hug, C.; Saugy, M.; Decosterd, L. A. A validated liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry method for the determination of leukotrienes B<sub>4</sub> and B<sub>5</sub> produced by stimulated human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2005**, *341*, 58-68.

[155] Erlemann, K. R.; Cossette, C.; Gravel, S.; Stamatiou, P. B.; Lee, G. J.; Rokach, J.;
 Powell, W. S. Metabolism of 5-hydroxy-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid by human endothelial cells.
 *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2006, *350*, 151-156.

[156] Berry, K. A. Z.; Murphy, R. C. Analysis of polyunsaturated aminophospholipid molecular species using isotope-tagged derivatives and tandem mass spectrometry/mass spectrometry. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2006**, *349*, 118-128.

[157] Lauridsen, C.; Stagsted, J.; Jensen, S. K. n-6 and n-3 fatty acids ratio and vitamin E in porcine maternal diet influence the antioxidant status and immune cell eicosanoid response in the progeny. *Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators* **2007**, *84*, 66-78.

[158] St-Onge, M.; Flamand, N.; Biarc, J.; Picard, S.; Bouchard, L.; Dussault, A. A.; Laflamme, C.; James, M. J.; Caughey, G. E.; Cleland, L. G.; Borgeat, P.; Pouliot, M. Characterization of prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> generation through the cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 pathway in human neutrophils. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids* **2007**, *1771*, 1235-1245.

[159] Altmann, R.; Hausmann, M.; Spottl, T.; Gruber, M.; Bull, A. W.; Menzel, K.; Vogl, D.; Herfarth, H.; Scholmerich, J.; Falk, W.; Rogler, G. 13-Oxo-ODE is an endogenous ligand for PPARγ in human colonic epithelial cells. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **2007**, *74*, 612-622.

[160] Espada, C. E.; Berra, M. A.; Martinez, M. J.; Eynard, A. R.; Pasqualini, M. E. Effect of Chia oil (Salvia Hispanica) rich in omega-3 fatty acids on the eicosanoid release, apoptosis and T-lymphocyte tumor infiltration in a murine mammary gland adenocarcinoma. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Essential Fatty Acids* **2007**, *77*, 21-28.

[161] Erlemann, K. R.; Cossette, C.; Gravel, S.; Lesimple, A.; Lee, G. J.; Saha, G.; Rokach, J.; Powell, W. S. Airway epithelial cells synthesize the lipid mediator 5-oxo-ETE in response to oxidative stress. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2007**, *42*, 654-664.

[162] Hishinuma, T.; Suzuki, K.; Saito, M.; Yamaguchi, H.; Suzuki, N.; Tomioka, Y.; Kaneko, I.; Ono, M.; Goto, J. Simultaneous quantification of seven prostanoids using liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry: the effects of arachidonic acid on prostanoid production in mouse bone marrow-derived mast cells. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* **2007**, *76*, 321-329.

[163] Ahn, E. K.; Yoon, H. K.; Jee, B. K.; Ko, H. J.; Lee, K. H.; Kim, H. J.; Lim, Y. COX-2 expression and inflammatory effects by diesel exhaust particles in vitro and in vivo. *Toxicology Letters* **2008**, *176*, 178-187.

[164] Goulitquer, S.; Dreano, Y.; Berthou, F.; Corcos, L.; Lucas, D. Determination of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids in human red blood cells and plasma by GC/MS in the NICI mode. *Journal of Chromatography B* **2008**, 876, 83-88.

[165] Roome, T.; Dar, A.; Naqvi, S.; Ali, S.; Choudhary, M. I. Aegiceras corniculatum extract

suppresses initial and late phases of inflammation in rat paw and attenuates the production of eicosanoids in rat neutrophils and human platelets. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* **2008**, *120*, 248-254.

[166] Sordillo, L. M.; Streicher, K. L.; Mullarky, I. K.; Gandy, J. C.; Trigona, W.; Corl, C. M. Selenium inhibits 15-hydroperoxyoctadecadienoic acid-induced intracellular adhesion molecule expression in aortic endothelial cells. *Free Radical Blology and Medicine* **2008**, *44*, 34-43.

[167] Cao, H.; Xiao, L.; Park, G.; Wang, X.; Azim, A. C.; Christman, J. W.; Breemen, R. B. An improved LC-MS/MS method for the quantification of prostaglandins E(2) and D(2) production in biological fluids. *Analytical Biochemistry* **2008**, *372*, 41-51.

[168] Araujo, P.; Du, Z. Y.; Nguyen, T. T.; Holen, E. Direct injection of redissolved cell culture media into a single-column liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry for the measurement of PGE<sub>2</sub>. *The Open Analytical Chemistry Journal* **2008**, *2*, 62-66.

[169] Wobst, I.; Schiffmann, S.; Birod, K.; Maier, T. J.; Schmidt, R.; Angioni, C.; Geisslinger,
G.; Grosch, S. Dimethylcelecoxib inhibits prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> production. *Biochemical Pharmacology*2008, 76, 62-69.

[170] S., R. D.; Kleiveland, C. R.; Kassem, M.; Lea, T.; Lundanes, E.; Greibrokk, T. Detecting pM concentrations of prostaglandins in cell culture supernatants by capillary SCX-LC-MS/MS. *Journal of Separation Science* **2008**, *31*, 2627-2633.

[171] Ali, K.; Lund-Katz, S.; Lawson, J.; Phillips, M. C.; Rader, D. J. Structure-function properties of the apoE-dependent COX-2 pathway in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Atherosclerosis* **2008**, *196*, 201-209.

[172] Graham, F. D.; Erlemann, K. R.; Gravel, S.; Rokach, J.; Powell, W. S. Oxidative stress-induced changes in pyridine nucleotides and chemoattractant 5-lipoxygenase products in aging neutrophils. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2009**, *47*, 62-71.

[173] Zhu, P.; Jian, W.; Blair, I. A. A 4-oxo-2(E)-nonenal-derived glutathione adduct from 15-lipoxygenase-1-mediated oxidation of cytosolic and esterified arachidonic acid. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2009**, *47*, 953-961.

[174] Niknami, M.; Vignarajan, S.; Yao, M.; Hua, S.; Witting, P. K.; Kita, Y.; Shimizu, T.; Sved, P.; Patel, M. I.; Dong, Q. Decrease in expression or activity of cytosolic phospholipase  $A_2\alpha$ increases cyclooxygenase-1 action: A cross-talk between key enzymes in arachidonic acid pathway in prostate cancer cells. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 2010, 1801, 731-737.

[175] Corl, C. M.; Contreras, G. A.; Sordillo, L. M. Lipoxygenase metabolites modulate vascular-derived platelet activating factor production following endotoxin challenge. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* **2010**, *136*, 98-107.

[176] Yip, K. H.; Huang, Y.; Leung, F. P.; Lau, H. Y. Cyclic guanosine monophosphate dependent pathway contributes to human mast cell inhibitory actions of the nitric oxide donor, diethylamine NONOate. *European Journal of Pharmacology* **2010**, *632*, 86-92.

[177] Saw, C. L.; Huang, Y.; Kong, A. N. Synergistic anti-inflammatory effects of low doses of curcumin in combination with polyunsaturated fatty acids: docosahexaenoic acid or eicosapentaenoic acid. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **2010**, *79*, 421-430.

[178] Esser, J.; Gehrmann, U.; D'Alexandri, F. L.; Hidalgo-Estevez, A. M.; Wheelock, C. E.; Scheynius, A.; Gabrielsson, S.; Radmark, O. Exosomes from human macrophages and dendritic cells contain enzymes for leukotriene biosynthesis and promote granulocyte migration. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **2010**, *126*, 1032-1040.

[179] Byrns, M. C.; Duan, L.; Lee, S. H.; Blair, I. A.; Penning, T. M. Aldo-keto reductase 1C3 expression in MCF-7 cells reveals roles in steroid hormone and prostaglandin metabolism that may explain its over-expression in breast cancer. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* **2010**, *118*, 177-187.

[180] Kakutani, S.; Kawashima, H.; Tanaka, T.; Shiraishi-Tateishi, A.; Kiso, Y. Uptake of dihomo-γ-linolenic acid by murine macrophages increases series-1 prostaglandin release following lipopolysaccharide treatment. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Essential fatty acids* **2010**, *83*, 23-29.

[181] Jain, A.; Bronneke, S.; Kolbe, L.; Stab, F.; Wenck, H.; Neufang, G. TRP-channel-specific cutaneous eicosanoid release patterns. *Pain* **2011**, *152*, 2765-2772.

[182] Bauer, J.; Koeberle, A.; Dehm, F.; Pollastro, F.; Appendino, G.; Northoff, H.; Rossi, A.; Sautebin, L.; Werz, O. Arzanol, a prenylated heterodimeric phloroglucinyl pyrone, inhibits eicosanoid biosynthesis and exhibits anti-inflammatory efficacy in vivo. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **2011**, *81*, 259-268.

[183] Kitz, K.; Windischhofer, W.; Leis, H. J.; Huber, E.; Kollroser, M.; Malle, E. 15-Deoxy-Delta12,14-prostaglandin  $J_2$  induces COX-2 expression in human osteosarcoma cells

through MAPK and EGFR activation involving reactive oxygen species. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2011**, *50*, 854-865.

[184] Grant, G. E.; Gravel, S.; Guay, J.; Patel, P.; Mazer, B. D.; Rokach, J.; Powell, W. S. 5-oxo-ETE is a major oxidative stress-induced arachidonate metabolite in B lymphocytes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2011**, *50*, 1297-1304.

[185] Martin-Venegas, R.; Casillas, R.; Jauregui, O.; Moreno, J. J. Rapid simultaneous analysis of cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase and cytochrome P-450 metabolites of arachidonic and linoleic acids using high performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry in tandem mode. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* **2011**, *56*, 976-982.

[186] Dumlao, D. S.; Buczynski, M. W.; Norris, P. C.; Harkewicz, R.; Dennis, E. A. High-throughput lipidomic analysis of fatty acid derived eicosanoids and N-acylethanolamines. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids* **2011**, *1811*, 724-736.

[187] Chillar, A.; So, S. P.; Ruan, C. H.; Shelat, H.; Geng, Y. J.; Ruan, K. H. A profile of NSAID-targeted arachidonic acid metabolisms in human embryonic stem cells (hESCs): implication of the negative effects of NSAIDs on heart tissue regeneration. *International Journal of Cardiology* **2011**, *150*, 253-259.

[188] Sarveswaran, S.; Thamilselvan, V.; Brodie, C.; Ghosh, J. Inhibition of 5-lipoxygenase triggers apoptosis in prostate cancer cells via down-regulation of protein kinase C-epsilon. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research* **2011**, *1813*, 2108-2117.

[189] Furugen, A.; Yamaguchi, H.; Tanaka, N.; Ito, H.; Miyamori, K.; Fujikawa, A.; Takahashi, N.; Ogura, J.; Kobayashi, M.; Yamada, T.; Mano, N.; Iseki, K. Quantification of intracellular and extracellular prostanoids stimulated by A23187 by liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography B* **2011**, *879*, 3378-3385.

[190] Andersson, H.; Garscha, U.; Brittebo, E. Effects of PCB126 and  $17\beta$ -oestradiol on endothelium-derived vasoactive factors in human endothelial cells. *Toxicology* **2011**, 285, 46-56.

[191] Banjanac, M.; Munic Kos, V.; Nujic, K.; Vrancic, M.; Belamaric, D.; Crnkovic, S.; Hlevnjak, M.; Erakovic Haber, V. Anti-inflammatory mechanism of action of azithromycin in LPS-stimulated J774A.1 cells. *Pharmacological Research : The Official Journal of the Italian Pharmacological Society* **2012**, *66*, 357-362.

[192] Lu, Y.; Li, Y.; Jin, M.; Yang, J. H.; Li, X.; Chao, G. H.; Park, H. H.; Park, Y. N.; Son, J.
K.; Lee, E.; Chang, H. W. Inula japonica extract inhibits mast cell-mediated allergic reaction and mast cell activation. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 2012, *143*, 151-157.

[193] Rowley, A. F.; Morgan, E. L.; Taylor, G. W.; Sunyer, J. O.; Holland, J. W.; Vogan, C.
L.; Secombes, C. J. Interaction between eicosanoids and the complement system in salmonid fish. *Development & Comparative Immunology* 2012, *36*, 1-9.

[194] Plee-Gautier, E.; Antoun, J.; Goulitquer, S.; Le Jossic-Corcos, C.; Simon, B.; Amet, Y.; Salaun, J. P.; Corcos, L. Statins increase cytochrome P450 4F3-mediated eicosanoids production in human liver cells: a PXR dependent mechanism. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **2012**, *84*, 571-579.

[195] Verhoff, M.; Seitz, S.; Northoff, H.; Jauch, J.; Schaible, A. M.; Werz, O. A novel C(28)-hydroxylated lupeolic acid suppresses the biosynthesis of eicosanoids through inhibition of cytosolic phospholipase A(2). *Biochemical Pharmacology* **2012**, *84*, 681-691.

[196] Fan, S. Y.; Zeng, H. W.; Pei, Y. H.; Li, L.; Ye, J.; Pan, Y. X.; Zhang, J. G.; Yuan, X.; Zhang, W. D. The anti-inflammatory activities of an extract and compounds isolated from Platycladus orientalis (Linnaeus) Franco in vitro and ex vivo. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* **2012**, *141*, 647-652.

[197] Araujo, P.; Janagap, S.; Holen, E. Application of Doehlert uniform shell designs for selecting optimal amounts of internal standards in the analysis of prostaglandins and leukotrienes by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2012**, *1260*, 102-110.

[198] Holen, E.; Lie, K. K.; Araujo, P.; Olsvik, P. A. Pathogen recognition and mechanisms in Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) head kidney cells: bacteria (LPS) and virus (poly I:C) signals through different pathways and affect distinct genes. *Fish&Shellfish Immunology* **2012**, *33*, 267-276.

[199] Contreras, G. A.; Raphael, W.; Mattmiller, S. A.; Gandy, J. C.; Sordillo, L. M. Nonesterified fatty acids modify inflammatory response and eicosanoid biosynthesis in bovine endothelial cells. *Journal of Dairy Science* **2012**, *95*, 5011-5023.

[200] Contreras, G. A.; Mattmiller, S. A.; Raphael, W.; Gandy, J. C.; Sordillo, L. M. Enhanced n-3 phospholipid content reduces inflammatory responses in bovine endothelial cells. *Journal of Dairy Science* **2012**, *95*, 7137-7150.

[201] Yagami, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Kohma, H. Leukotriene receptor antagonists, LY293111

and ONO-1078, protect neurons from the sPLA2-IB-induced neuronal cell death independently of blocking their receptors. *Neurochemistry International* **2013**, *63*, 163-171.

[202] Petri, M. H.; Tellier, C.; Michiels, C.; Ellertsen, I.; Dogne, J. M.; Back, M. Effects of the dual TP receptor antagonist and thromboxane synthase inhibitor EV-077 on human endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **2013**, *441*, 393-398.

[203] Li, Y.; Zhao, H.; Wang, Y.; Zheng, H.; Yu, W.; Chai, H.; Zhang, J.; Falck, J. R.; Guo, A. M.; Yue, J.; Peng, R.; Yang, J. Isoliquiritigenin induces growth inhibition and apoptosis through downregulating arachidonic acid metabolic network and the deactivation of PI3K/Akt in human breast cancer. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **2013**, *272*, 37-48.

[204] Torrecillas, S.; Makol, A.; Betancor, M. B.; Montero, D.; Caballero, M. J.; Sweetman,
J.; Izquierdo, M. Enhanced intestinal epithelial barrier health status on European sea bass
(Dicentrarchus labrax) fed mannan oligosaccharides. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* 2013, *34*, 1485-1495.

[205] Moreira, V.; Teixeira, C.; Borges da Silva, H.; D'Imperio Lima, M. R.; Dos-Santos, M.
 C. The crucial role of the MyD88 adaptor protein in the inflammatory response induced by Bothrops atrox venom. *Toxicon : Official Journal of the International Society on Toxinology* 2013, 67, 37-46.

[206] Horn, T.; Kakularam, K. R.; Anton, M.; Richter, C.; Reddanna, P.; Kuhn, H. Functional characterization of genetic enzyme variations in human lipoxygenases. *Redox Biology* **2013**, *1*, 566-577.

[207] Faouder, P. L.; Baillif, V.; Spreadbury, I.; Motta, J. P.; Rousset, P.; Chene, G.; Guigne, C.; Terce, F.; Vanner, S.; Vergnolle, N.; Bertrand-Michel, J.; Dubourdeau, M.; Cenac, N. LC-MS/MS method for rapid and concomitant quantification of pro-inflammatory and pro-resolving polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolites. *Journal of Chromatography B* **2013**, *932*, 123-133.

[208] Jakiela, B.; Gielicz, A.; Plutecka, H.; Hubalewska, M.; Mastalerz, L.; Bochenek, G.; Soja, J.; Januszek, R.; Musial, J.; Sanak, M. Eicosanoid biosynthesis during mucociliary and mucous metaplastic differentiation of bronchial epithelial cells. *Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators* **2013**, *106*, 116-123.

[209] Furne, M.; Holen, E.; Araujo, P.; Lie, K. K.; Moren, M. Cytokine gene expression and prostaglandin production in head kidney leukocytes isolated from Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua)

added different levels of arachidonic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* **2013**, *34*, 770-777.

[210] Idborg, H.; Olsson, P.; Leclerc, P.; Raouf, J.; Jakobsson, P. J.; Korotkova, M. Effects of mPGES-1 deletion on eicosanoid and fatty acid profiles in mice. *Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators* **2013**, *107*, 18-25.

[211] Massey, K. A.; Nicolaou, A. Lipidomics of oxidized polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2013**, *59*, 45-55.

[212] Gu, Y.; Xu, Y.; Law, B.; Qian, S. Y. The first characterization of free radicals formed from cellular COX-catalyzed peroxidation. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **2013**, *57*, 49-60.

[213] Kuwata, H.; Yoshimura, M.; Sasaki, Y.; Yoda, E.; Nakatani, Y.; Kudo, I.; Hara, S. Role of long-chain acyl-coenzyme A synthetases in the regulation of arachidonic acid metabolism in interleukin 1β-stimulated rat fibroblasts. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids* **2014**, *1841*, 44-53.

[214] Bowers, L. D. High-performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry: state of the art for the drug analysis laboratory. *Clinical Chemistry* **1989**, *35*, 1282-1287.

[215] Araujo, P.; Couillard, F.; Leirnes, E.; Ask, K.; Bokevoll, A.; Froyland, L. Experimental design considerations in quantification experiments by using the internal standard technique: cholesterol determination by gas chromatography as a case study. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2006**, *1121*, 99-105.

[216] Konieczka, P.; Namiesnik, J.: Method validation. In *quality assurance and quality control in the analytical chemical laboratory*; Analytical Chemistry Series; Taylor&Francis Group: London, 2009.

[217] Gao, L.; Li, J.; Kasserra, C.; Song, Q. Precision and accuracy in the quantitative analysis of biological samples by accelerator mass spectrometry: application in microdose absolute bioavailability studies. *Analytical Chemistry* **2011**, *83*, 5607-5616.

[218] Dalli, J.; Winkler, J. W.; Colas, R. A.; Arnardottir, H.; Cheng, C. Y.; Chiang, N.; Petasis, N. A.; Serhan, C. N. Resolvin D<sub>3</sub> and aspirin-triggered resolvin D<sub>3</sub> are potent immunoresolvents. *Chemisry & Biology* **2013**, *20*, 188-201.

[219] Bordet, J. C.; Guichardant, M. L., M. Arachidonic acid strongly stimulates prostaglandin I<sub>3</sub> (PGI<sub>3</sub>) production from eicosapentaenoic in human endothelial cells. *Biochemical* 

and Biophysical Research Communications 1986, 135, 403-410.

[220] Vaughn, D. M.; Reinhart, G. A.; Swaim, S. G. Evaluation of effects of dietary n-6 to n-3 fatty acid ratios on leukotriene B synthesis in dog skin and neutrophils. *Veterinary Dermatology* 1994, *5*, 163-173.

[221] Calder, P. C. Immunoregulatory and anti-inflammatory effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research* **1998**, *31*, 467-490.

[222] Calder, P. C. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammatory processes: new twists in an old tale. *Biochimie* **2009**, *91*, 791-795.

[223] Silva, P. P. Universidade Fernando Pessoa, Porto, Portugal. Personal Communication, September 27th, 2013.

## Appendix I

## Statistical analysis to validate the recovery range (60-120%) for PGE<sub>3</sub> and LTB<sub>4</sub> when the nominal concentration is 50 ng/ml $z = \frac{x-u}{\sigma} \qquad f(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}}$

		$z = \frac{x-u}{2}$	
		σ	
	expected		
% racovery	concentrations(x)	z voluos	$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{z})$
% lecovery	concentrations(x)	z-values	I(Z)
	(ng/ml)		
120	60	1.65	0.10
18	59	1.54	0.12
16	58	1.43	0.14
114	57	1.32	0.17
112	56	1.21	0.19
110	55	1.10	0.22
108	54	0.99	0.24
106	53	0.88	0.27
104	52	0.77	0.30
102	51	0.66	0.32
100	50	0.55	0.34
98	49	0.44	0.36
96	48	0.33	0.38
94	47	0.22	0.39
92	46	0.11	0.40
88	44	-0.11	0.40
86	43	-0.22	0.39
84	42	-0.33	0.38
82	41	-0.44	0.36
80	40	-0.55	0.34
78	39	-0.66	0.32
76	38	-0.77	0.30
74	37	-0.88	0.27
72	36	-0.99	0.24
70	35	-1.10	0.22
68	34	-1.21	0.19
66	33	-1.32	0.17
64	32	-1.43	0.14
62	31	-1.54	0.12
60	30	-1.65	0.10
Mean (µ)	45		
Standard			
deviation	Q		
	7		
(0)			

